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OUR VISION A MARITIME
ENVIRONMENT WITH MINIMAL
DEATHS, ACCIDENTS, INCIDENTS
AND POLLUTION AS PART OF AN
INTEGRATED AND SUSTAINABLE
TRANSPORT SYSTEM.

Maritime New Zealand is a Crown entity established
in August 1993 as the Maritime Safety Authority and
renamed with effect from 1 July 2005. While safety,
security and marine protection remain core objectives,
the change of name reflects a wider mandate in which
Maritime New Zealand will also contribute to the aim
of achieving an integrated, responsive and sustainable
transport system in New Zealand.
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Summary Profile of  
Maritime New Zealand
Maritime New Zealand is a Crown entity established in August 1993 as the  
Maritime Safety Authority and renamed with effect from 1 July 2005.

PRINcIPAl ObjEcTIVE
To undertake its safety, security, marine protection, and other functions in a way that contributes to the aim  
of achieving an integrated, safe, responsive and sustainable transport system.

PRINcIPAl SERVIcES PROVIdEd bY MARITIME NEw ZEAlANd
Develop maritime safety and marine protection rules

License seafarers

Register ships

Conduct safety inspections of New Zealand ships and of foreign ships calling at New Zealand ports

Administer the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992 for ships

Provide and operate lighthouses and other aids to navigation for ships on the New Zealand coast

Provide a coastal maritime safety and distress radio service

Manage New Zealand’s ship and port security system

Investigate and analyse maritime accidents and accident trends

Educate the maritime community about safety and environmental standards and best practice

Manage and coordinate Class III search and rescue

Maintain the New Zealand marine oil spill response strategy and national contingency plan

Administer the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund.

Staff also oversee services provided by organisations under contract or delegated authority1, principally in  
the areas of marine radio services for communicating distress messages and safety information to and from  
ships at sea, maintenance of aids to navigation and the Safe Ship Management System which replaced the 
traditional survey of ships in 1998.

Maritime New Zealand develops, on behalf of the Minister of Transport, draft maritime and marine protection 
rules, the form of delegated legislation for technical standards provided for in the Maritime Transport Act 1994. 
Other Ministerial services include technical advice on maritime safety and environmental protection issues,  
advice on Ministerial correspondence, parliamentary questions and industry liaison.

The professional skills and qualifications of the staff cover a range of disciplines. Uniquely, the number of staff  
with seagoing backgrounds makes Maritime New Zealand the largest New Zealand employer of professionally 
qualified seafarers outside the shipping industry.
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■
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■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

OVERVIEw

1 Refer Appendix Two for the full list of operations delegated or contracted out.
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FROm ThE ChAiR

Welcome to the first Annual Report  
of Maritime New Zealand (since being 
renamed from the former Maritime  
Safety Authority).
The theme of joint action and collaboration is evident 
throughout this Annual Report and reflects our 
preferred approach of extending working relationships 
with industry and other partners to deliver the safe, 
secure and environmentally sustainable outcomes 
expected of the maritime community. I acknowledge 
the efforts of our industry and government partners 
in FishSAFE, and believe this innovative approach 
to developing guidelines for the safe operation of 
commercial vessels offers an invaluable template for 
future initiatives across the maritime sector.

We have also been working hard with the main 
commercial operators in the Cook Strait ferry trade 
to identify operational safety improvements and to 
deliver world best operational practices and safety 
procedures for this vital link in New Zealand’s transport 
infrastructure. The year was also marked by increased 
communication within the search and rescue 
community on how best to provide search and rescue 
services in New Zealand. We welcome the findings 
of the independent review into the search for missing 
helicopter ZK-HTF. The review will assist Maritime 
New Zealand and the Search and Rescue Council 
to further improve New Zealand’s search and rescue 
system. I would like to thank all of those who have 
worked so hard on this and other searches throughout 
the year.

The release of the Review of maritime New Zealand 
was another important milestone during the year. The 
review confirmed that the organisation is generally 
in good health. The year has however, seen an 
increased focus on strengthening the organisation’s 

human resources and IT systems, given that the 
review identified that these areas represent a risk to 
Maritime New Zealand’s capability. The review also 
recommended that direct and indirect charges be 
reviewed. There is a need to establish the sustainable 
funding required over the medium to long term to 
ensure the organisation can fulfil its statutory objective 
and functions efficiently and effectively.

The past year has seen increased collaboration with 
the Ministry of Transport and the other transport 
Crown agencies as we work toward realising the 
vision of the New Zealand Transport Strategy. The 
development of the Transport Sector Strategic 
Directions Document (TSSD) was a significant step in 
identifying initiatives that require joint effort across the 
government transport sector. During the year Maritime 
New Zealand has actively contributed to the sector 
wide work programme set out in the TSSD, and will 
also give effect to it when planning its own operational 
activity in the maritime sector.

I would like to thank my fellow Authority members 
for their support during the year and in particular 
to recognise the contribution made by departing 
member Pauline Barratt. On behalf of the Authority, I 
also wish to acknowledge the professionalism of the 
staff of Maritime New Zealand, and to offer our warm 
appreciation of the achievements of retiring Chief 
Executive Russell Kilvington. His has been a long and 
successful tenure and we thank him for leaving behind 
an organisation well placed to meet the challenges of 
the future.

Susie Staley
Chairman

�
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DiRECTOR’s REviEw

As our first year of operation as  
Maritime New Zealand drew to an end 
we were offered a reminder of just how 
unforgiving and harsh the maritime 
environment can be.
The loss of six people, including three generations 
of one family, on the Kotuku had a huge impact 
on the community of Bluff and was felt throughout 
New Zealand. Similarly the tragic loss of seventeen 
lives in other maritime accidents during the year 
reinforces to all of us at Maritime New Zealand the  
vital importance of our work.

The year has seen a number of key safety initiatives 
in the commercial sector, not least of which is the 
formal review of safety operational practices on the 
Cook Strait ferries. Maritime New Zealand recognises 
the importance of this trade to New Zealand and 
appreciates the cooperation of the main commercial 
operators in assisting the review, as well as the 
assistance given at all levels to our safety auditors.

I was pleased to see the release of the safety 
Guidelines for small Commercial Fishing vessels. 
These guidelines were developed under the auspices 
of FishSAFE, an industry-led partnership with 
government agencies aimed at developing ways to 
improve the safety performance of the New Zealand 
commercial fishing industry. The guidelines identify 
the key hazards in commercial fishing and provide 
information on the ways in which current and past 
fishermen have eliminated or minimised workplace 
hazards. We value our partnership with the commercial 
fishing industry and thank all members of FishSAFE for 
their efforts in providing an original solution to improve 
their industry’s safety record.

It is also timely to thank our partners in the National 
Pleasure Boat Safety Forum. The safety record of 
the recreational boating sector has shown a very 
encouraging and dramatic improvement since the 
introduction of compulsory carriage of lifejackets 
and an associated educational campaign. The nine 
fatalities recorded in 2005/06 continues the decline in 
the fatality rate over recent years and compares very 
favourably to an annual average of 20 fatalities over  
the preceding five years.  

The Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand 
coordinated a number of very significant search and 
rescue operations during its second year of operation. 
All of these operations are subject to internal review with 
the aim of continually improving our procedures and 
practices. We will be using the recommendations from 
the review of the search for missing helicopter ZK-HTF 
to further develop our search and rescue capability.

While our emphasis on safety and marine environment 
protection and sustainability remains unchanged, our 
increased mandate in terms of search and rescue 
and maritime security offers advantages in delivering 
coordinated maritime sector response services. 
This was put to the test for the first time this year in 
Exercise hardrock, in which an oil spill scenario was 
expanded to thoroughly test maritime security and 
search and rescue elements. This was the largest such 
exercise ever undertaken and the overall commitment 
and enthusiasm demonstrated by staff left me 
confident that this organisation is a well prepared and 
well motivated 24/7 response agency. 

The capability required for Maritime New Zealand to 
deliver its outcomes was a key theme of the year. 
Much progress has been made in identifying strategies 
and implementing the recommendations in the 

Continued over
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HEAdINg HERE

Review of maritime New Zealand with regard to our IT 
systems. An Information Services Strategic Plan (ISSP) 
has been developed and work is underway to scope 
a major project to address areas such as succession 
planning, career development and initiatives to retain 
our staff.

Maritime New Zealand continued a tight control on 
expenditure in light of the uncertainly surrounding  
our revenue streams, not least the volatility of the 
(market driven) Marine Safety Charge (MSC). More 
favourable than expected market conditions, together 
with an interim 15% increase in the MSC for foreign 
going ships effective from September has seen a 
better than expected financial year outcome, with an 
$18,000 operating deficit being an improvement on  
the budgeted deficit of $482,000. A review of all 
Maritime New Zealand direct and indirect charges 
has now commenced, with the aim of establishing 
sustainable funding for the organisation, including 
recreational boating, oil pollution, and maintenance  
of historic lighthouses.

I offer my very sincere thanks to all of our staff and 
Authority members that I have worked with over the 
last thirteen years. It has been a privilege to lead and 
be part of an organisation that has made a genuine 
difference to the lives of many New Zealanders. I wish 
‘fair winds and following seas’ to all involved and 
supportive of the continued development of Maritime 
New Zealand.

Russell Kilvington
Director of Maritime New Zealand

10
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Our Structure
Maritime New Zealand has 121 fulltime staff, 60% of 
whom are located in the Wellington office.

There are 17 staff at the Rescue Coordination Centre 
New Zealand at Lower Hutt, eight at the Marine 
Pollution Response Service in Te Atatu, and seven in 
the Auckland regional office. The Lyttelton office has 
four staff, with three in Tauranga, and two in Nelson 
and Whangarei. Our regional offices in Napier, New 
Plymouth, Picton, Dunedin and Bluff each have one 
staff member.

Maritime New Zealand Board
(The Authority)

Director
Maritime New Zealand

General Manager 
Maritime Security

General Manager
Maritime Operations

General Manager 
Marine Pollution Response Services

General Manager 
(Chief Investigator of Accidents)

General Manager
Safety Services

Deputy Director
Safety & Response Services

Deputy Director
Development & Business Services

Deputy Director
Monitoring & Compliance

Corporate Services Team

General Manager
Strategy & Communications

Manager
Human Resources

OUR ORgANISATION

Safety Audit Team
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Our People
cHAIRMAN ANd AUTHORITY MEMbERS
Maritime New Zealand is, in law, the five people appointed by the Minister of Transport, thereby constituting  
‘the Authority’. The members of the Authority during the year were:

Susie Staley (Chairman). She 
is a Barrister and Solicitor, 
and a partner of Staley 
Cardoza Lawyers, in Dunedin. 
Her area of practice covers 
a wide range of commercial, 
company and property work. 
She is also a Director of PGG 
Wrightson Ltd, Tower Ltd and 

Global Technologies (NZ) Ltd. She has recently retired 
as a Director of Dunedin International Airport Ltd and 
as Chairman of Ngai Tahu Property Management Ltd. 
She became a member of the Authority in July 1999 
and was appointed Chairman in December 2002.

dave Morgan (Deputy 
Chairman). He was formerly 
President of the New Zealand 
Seafarers Union. He has 
also served on the Marine 
Council and the New Zealand 
Shipping Industry Training 
Board, and was a member 
of the Shipping Industry 

Review Team that made strategic recommendations 
to the Minister of Transport in 2000. He is currently 
the New Zealand representative on the Board of the 
Pacific Forum Line. He became a member of the 
Authority in July 2001 and was appointed Deputy 
Chairman in June 2004.

adrienne Young Cooper 
is Director and Principal 
of Hill Young Cooper Ltd, 
a New Zealand owned 
consultancy that provides 
resource management and 
public policy consulting 
services across a wide range 
of organisations throughout 

New Zealand and the Pacific. She sits on the boards 
of Solid Energy New Zealand Ltd, the Auckland 
Regional Transport Authority and the Auckland City 
Property Board, she has previously sat on the Board of 
Auckland Regional Transport Networks Ltd including 
subsidiaries ARTNL Harbour Berths Ltd, ARTNL Metro 
Ltd and ARTNL Britomart Ltd. She became a member 
of the Authority in July 2004.

Ken Gilligan was formerly 
General Manager and 
Managing Director of the 
Port of Napier. He is a fellow 
of the Chartered Institute 
of Logistics and Transport. 
Prior to the Port of Napier he 
was Chief Executive of the 
New Zealand Ports Authority 

and had a 20 year career in Government employment 
with Inland Revenue, Treasury, Internal Affairs, and the 
Ministry of Transport. He is currently Chairman of the 
Hawke’s Bay Power Consumers’ Trust and the Energy 
Trusts of New Zealand (Inc). He became a member of 
the Authority in June 2003.

Pauline Barratt is a Barrister 
and Solicitor, and a partner 
at the Jones Fee law firm 
in Auckland. Her area of 
practice covers all aspects 
of Admiralty and maritime 
law, including carriage of 
goods and the law of marine 
insurance. She is currently 

Secretary of the New Zealand branch of the Maritime 
Law Association of Australia and New Zealand. She 
became a member of the Authority in December 2002, 
and resigned with effect from March 2006.
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MARITIME NEw ZEAlANd MANAgEMENT

russell Kilvington is the 
Director and Chief Executive 
of Maritime New Zealand. 
He joined the organisation 
shortly after its creation, on 
1 November 1993. For the 
previous seven years he was 
a Director of both United 
Kingdom and New Zealand 

based international transport planning consultants, 
Steer Davies Gleave. Between 1990 and 1994 Russell 
was an International Vice President of the Chartered 
Institute of Transport and subsequently was Chairman 
of the New Zealand National Council for a two year 
period between 1997 and 1999. The current holder of 
the Norman Spencer Memorial Medal for services to 
transport and the Institute of Logistics and Transport 
in New Zealand, Russell has a number of tertiary and 
professional qualifications in transport, economics and 
planning. He also spent five years as Deputy Director 
of the Transport Studies Unit at Oxford University.

Bruce Maroc is the Deputy 
Director of Monitoring 
and Compliance. He is 
responsible for the effective 
delivery of services of the 
monitoring and compliance 
business group, and for 
providing technical advice to 
the Director and Authority. 

He holds postgraduate qualifications in Business 
(Shipping). Bruce began his career as a traditional 
entry Marine Engineer and sailed on a range of ships 
progressing in many positions up to and including 
Chief Engineer. He then served as Engineering 
Superintendent for Howard Smith Shipping in Australia 
before moving to New Zealand in 1994 to take up a 
General Manager position with Howard Smith Shipping 
(NZ). He was then Fleet Manager for Silver Fern 
Shipping before assuming his current position in 2000.

Peter williams is the 
Deputy Director Safety and 
Response Services. His 
portfolio of responsibilities 
includes search and rescue 
and the Rescue Coordination 
Centre New Zealand, 
maritime security, oil pollution 
response, the distress and 

safety radio network, and aids to navigation. Following 
a lengthy career in the United Kingdom’s Royal Navy 
he enjoyed a successful career in Television and 
Broadcasting before joining the then Maritime Safety 
Authority (MSA) in April 2002 as Divisional Manager 
Safety Services. Following the implementation of 
the International Port and Ship Security Code in 
New Zealand and the development of the Rescue 
Coordination Centre New Zealand, Peter was 
appointed Deputy Director Safety and Response 
Services in January 2004.

Catherine taylor is Deputy 
Director Development and 
Business Services with overall 
responsibility for the corporate 
services, government 
relations, strategic 
planning, and education 
and communications 
teams. She is a Chartered 

Accountant with tertiary qualifications in economics 
and accountancy. Catherine has more than 15 years 
experience in the transport sector having held a variety 
of positions including management of day to day 
operations at Wellington airport and working as a senior 
manager for the Civil Aviation Authority. Catherine 
joined Maritime New Zealand in September 2004.

OUR ORgANISATION14
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Governance and Management
AccOUNTAbIlITY
Under the Crown Entities Act 2004, Maritime 
New Zealand is a body corporate established 
under the Maritime Transport Act 1994. Maritime 
New Zealand is a Crown agent, and must give effect 
to government policy when directed to do so by the 
responsible Minister (no such policy directions were 
issued in 2005/06).

While Maritime New Zealand’s authority and 
accountability is based on the Maritime Transport Act 
1994, it also has additional authority sourced in the 
following legislation:

Maritime Security Act 2004: In which Maritime 
New Zealand undertakes the activities necessary 
for the effective implementation of the International 
Ship and Port Facility Code

Section 14C of the Civil Aviation Act 1990: In which 
Maritime New Zealand assumes responsibility for 
providing Class III search and rescue on a 24 hours 
per day, seven days per week basis

Section 28B of the Health and Safety in 
Employment Act 1992: In which Maritime 
New Zealand is responsible for administering the 
Act on board ships and for ships as places of work.

In addition to these legislative provisions, Maritime 
New Zealand must report against an annual 
Performance Agreement (renamed Output Agreement 
from 2006/07) between the Authority and the Minister 
of Transport. Maritime New Zealand also produces 
an annual Statement of Intent, which includes the 
Authority’s strategic objectives over the next three year 
period as well as the Statement of Forecast Service 
Performance detailing the specific measures by which 
Maritime New Zealand measures its performance. 
Under the Public Finance Act 1989, Maritime 
New Zealand is also required to report quarterly to the 
Minister of Transport, and annually to Parliament.

The governance practices and policies of the Authority 
were subject to a major review in 2005/06, resulting in 
the adoption of a charter describing how the Authority 
will operate, establishing standards for its performance, 
and prescribing the operating ‘style’ it will apply.

■

■

■

cONFlIcT OF INTEREST
Maritime New Zealand actively identifies and manages 
conflicts of interest to ensure that its business is 
carried out in a transparent and fair manner. Authority 
members and staff must declare all interests, which 
are kept in a Register of Interests maintained by the 
Manager, Human Resources.

gOOd EMPlOYER PROVISIONS
Maritime New Zealand’s aim is to become an employer 
of choice by 2010. To do this it began a review in 
2005/06 of its current personnel policies and practices 
to not only ensure that they are compliant with the 
‘good employer’ principles of the Crown Entities Act 
2004, but also are tested against best practice and 
more importantly are considered to be fair, transparent 
and applied consistently to our employees. The 
following human resource policies have been reviewed 
in the last 12 months:

Behaviour at Work Policy (incorporating the 
Maritime New Zealand Code of Conduct protected 
disclosures, fraud, and use of business resources)

Development of a health, safety and well-being 
programme

Introduction of a new remuneration structure

Streamlining of the recruitment procedures to 
increase the impartial selection of the right people 
with the right skills and right experience

The introduction of a ‘secondment policy’ that 
provides opportunities for existing staff in enhancing 
and increasing their skills and abilities.

Employees have the opportunity to provide feedback 
before and during the review and development of all 
personnel policies and practices. In consideration of 
the diversity of staff a variety of interactive methods 
are used to encourage involvement, including 
brainstorming sessions, facilitated workshops, group 
discussions, and one on one sessions.

■

■

■

■

■
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Strategic Framework
Maritime New Zealand’s strategic framework contributes to the vision of the New Zealand Transport Strategy 
(NZTS)2 that by 2010 New Zealand will have an affordable, integrated, safe, responsive and sustainable transport 
system. The following strategic framework3 illustrates how Maritime New Zealand contributes to the desired 
outcomes of the NZTS.

Maritime New Zealand Strategic Framework

FROM STRATEgY TO AcTION

The transport system supports sustainable national and regional economic development

The transport system is made safer and more secure

The transport system is inclusive, accessible and affordable to all users

The transport system contributes to positive health outcomes

Transport uses land, energy and other resources effectively

A MARITIME ENVIRONMENT WITH MINIMAL DEATHS, ACCIDENTS, INCIDENTS AND 
POLLUTION AS PART OF AN INTEGRATED AND SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT SYSTEM

SAFE – ENVIRONMENTALLY SUSTAINABLE – SECURE

Safety and 
Environmental 

Culture
Compliance

Response 
Capability

Strategic 
Alliances

International 
Standards

Best Practice

LEADING NEW ZEALAND TO CREATE AND MAINTAIN AN INTEGRATED, SAFE, RESPONSIVE 
AND SUSTAINABLE MARITIME TRANSPORT SYSTEM, TO ASSIST ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, 

SOCIAL COHESION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENTS

Capability

Extend internal 
capability and 
effectiveness 

through people 
and processes 

focused on achieving 
excellence

industry-based

Extend effective 
working relationships 
to produce improved 

industry-based 
solutions

leadership

Provide strong and 
consistent leadership 

to the maritime 
community

evidenCe

Practice evidence-
based decision-
making through 

the identification of 
strategic issues and 

the analysis of  
quality data

support

Encourage and 
support participants 
to make an informed 
decision leading to a 

safe outcome

Integrity and 
Professionalism

Accountability  
and 

Responsiveness

Valuing our  
people

Relationships
Supportive 

Environment
Passion
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2 http://www.transport.govt.nz/new-zealand-transport-strategy/

3 This framework was further refined during the year. Changes include the environmental sustainability outcome being renamed marine protection, and the addition of Maritime New Zealand outputs to 
make explicit their contribution to Maritime New Zealand outcomes. The revised framework is effective from the 2006/07 year.

1�

MaritiMe New ZealaNd



During 2005/06 Maritime New Zealand developed action plans to ensure that the three end outcomes (safety, 
environmental sustainability and security) are specifically addressed as major areas of strategic activity.

A fourth action plan based around capability is intended to ensure that the organisation as a whole is well 
positioned to meet the challenges and opportunities in these areas. The action plans detail specific strategic goals 
and also scan the external operating environment for each area and analyse Maritime New Zealand’s capability to 
meet the challenges of these.

Collaborative Planning
While the principles and objectives of the NZTS have been incorporated into the core legislation for transport 
Crown entities, the NZTS also requires the transport agencies to work together when common action is required 
to advance the NZTS. Throughout the year Maritime New Zealand actively contributed to three major initiatives 
across the whole of the government transport sector.

The first joint planning exercise saw the development of the Transport Sector Strategic Directions Document, 
which will serve as the basis for aligning collaborative aspects of the transport agencies’ work programmes. Work 
was also undertaken to develop an integrated monitoring framework to measure the sector’s progress toward 
delivering the NZTS, and to develop a common format for the Statements of Intent of the Ministry of Transport 
and the transport Crown entities.

ANNUAL REPORT 2005/06
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Activities and Key Events  
during the Year
SIgNIFIcANT STRATEgIc ISSUES

Review of Maritime New Zealand

During the year PricewaterhouseCoopers and 
Thompson Clarke Shipping completed the Review of 
maritime New Zealand. The review was commissioned 
by the Ministry of Transport4 following a decline in 
income from the Marine Safety Charge (MSC) caused 
by the rationalisation of international shipping, with 
larger vessels visiting New Zealand less frequently. The 
primary objective of the review was to identify funding 
arrangements to provide Maritime New Zealand with 
a level of income sufficient to support the capability 
necessary for the organisation to fulfil its statutory 
objective and functions efficiently and effectively over 
the next five years. A 15% increase in MSC for foreign 
going ships was also approved as an interim measure 
pending the review.

The review found Maritime New Zealand to be in 
good health, but noted that the organisation was not 
financially sustainable in the medium and longer term 
if reductions in MSC revenue continued. The review 
noted that the labour market shortage of specialist 
and technical maritime personnel had impacted upon 
Maritime New Zealand’s human resource capability. 
It also noted that IT systems and physical assets are 
a key part of Maritime New Zealand’s capability and 
given the recent deficits and low level of reserves, 
additional funding was required to assist with the 
replacement of these assets.

After reviewing the organisation’s sources of funding it 
was recommended that:

Direct user charges be reviewed and increased 
to align revenues more closely with the cost of 
providing these services,

Some new direct user charges be introduced for 
some auditing activities previously funded by the 
MSC and Crown,

Industry contribute to the costs of maritime security 
services via the MSC (as well as user charges),

The funding of recreational boating services be 
reviewed as a significant element of these activities 
are funded by the MSC. Because there is no easy 
way of recovering costs from recreational boating, 
Crown funding is required.

■

■

■

■

The review also recommended that Crown funding be 
increased in the 2006/07 financial year on the basis 
that a number of activities that should be funded by the 
Crown (analysed on the basis of Treasury Guidelines for 
the Recovery of Costs in the public sector) were in fact 
being funded through direct and indirect charges. A 
comprehensive review of all direct and indirect charges 
will be undertaken in the 2006/07 year to consider 
the sources of funding, with particular emphasis 
on the future funding of recreational boating safety 
programmes, some audit activities, the provision of 
maritime security services and the costs of maintaining 
historic lighthouses on the New Zealand coast.

Review of Operational Practices and 
Safety Procedures in the Cook Strait

Following a number of serious accidents, incidents 
and near misses involving ferries operated by the 
Interislander and Strait Shipping companies, Maritime 
New Zealand initiated a formal review of operational 
practices and safety procedures of the Cook Strait 
ferries in late 2005. The review is independent of 
Maritime New Zealand and managed by a steering 
committee chaired by Mr Bill Falconer, CNZM. The 
review included the services of an international expert 
in ferry operations and benchmarked domestic 
operational practice with world’s best operational 
practice for ferries. The review commenced in mid 
September, with an analysis of all literature currently 
available from the numerous accident and audit 
reports conducted by Maritime New Zealand and 
both companies. Interviews were also conducted 
with various stakeholders, such as regional councils, 
port companies, seagoing staff, recreational boating 
groups and operators. The review’s goal is to identify 
areas for operational safety improvement and to 
establish agreed standards and practices to which 
Maritime New Zealand will conduct routine auditing for 
compliance. The review is scheduled to conclude its 
work by the end of 2006.

FROM STRATEgY TO AcTION

4 Under the Maritime New Zealand Performance Agreement independent efficiency and effectiveness reviews of the organisation may be carried out periodically at three year intervals or at such other 
time as may be required by the Minister.
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Search and Rescue

ZK-HTF Search and Rescue Operation 
Independent Review

Maritime New Zealand and the Search and Rescue 
Council5 have considered the recommendations of the 
independent review into the search for ZK-HTF, the 
helicopter that crashed and killed both men on board 
in November 2005. A working group with appropriate 
search and rescue expertise has been established by the 
Search and Rescue Council with a view to implementing 
the recommendations as soon as practicable. Some 
of the recommendations can be implemented relatively 
easily, while others have resourcing implications for 
which funding will be required.

Coordination of Marine Search and Rescue

The year saw increased communication within the 
search and rescue (SAR) community on how best to 
deliver coordinated SAR services in New Zealand. The 
present SAR system is based on a structure in which 
responses are classified and scaled up according to 
complexity (i.e. Police coordinate Class II and RCCNZ 
coordinate Class III incidents). This has proven to 
be somewhat problematic, notably in the case of 
inshore marine incidents such as the SAR response 
following the loss of the iron Maiden off Northland in 
August 2004. In October 2005, Maritime New Zealand 
submitted a proposal to the SAR Council that provided 
a ‘Cost Benefit Analysis for Maritime New Zealand’s 
Coordination of Marine SAR.’ The Council supported 
the concepts and tasked the SAR Secretariat to 
develop a business case for the Officials Committee 
for Domestic and External Security Coordination 
(ODESC). With Maritime New Zealand’s assistance 
the SAR Council submitted a ‘Strategic Funding of 
New Zealand’s Search and Rescue’ paper to ODESC 
on 10 February 2006.

SAFETY

Accidents

Fourteen fatalities and 331 accidents and incidents 
involving commercial vessels were reported to Maritime 
New Zealand during the year. There were also 157 
reports of serious harm6 to seafarers or passengers. 
The recreational sector reported nine fatalities from 77 
accidents and incidents over the same period.

Major investigations were launched during the year 
into the disappearance of the fishing vessel Mi Jay 
with the loss of three crewmembers, and into the 
deaths of two drivers after their trucks fell overboard 
while being loaded onto the barge rakanui. Maritime 
New Zealand also commenced an investigation into 
the loss of the fishing vessel Kotuku, which resulted in 
the loss of six lives, including three generations of one 
family. Other investigations commenced into the near 
roll over of the rail ferry aratere in heavy seas, and a 
fire aboard a Shotover jet boat.

Search and Rescue Operations

In total, 68 people were rescued as a result of 
responses to Class III SAR incidents during the year. 
Of these, 12 were aviation, 27 were land, and 29  
were maritime incidents. A further nine people were 
assisted to safety. Significant rescues included the 
crew of the yacht Janette Gay in heavy seas north 
east of the Chatham Islands after an extensive SAR 
response involving commercial shipping, the Air 
Force’s Orion aircraft, Wellington’s Westpac Rescue 
helicopter and other support aircraft. Two crew of the 
French yacht Xiphos were also rescued off the coast 
of Taranaki.  This incident had a sequel when the 
owner of the yacht was returned to the vessel in  
heavy seas and subsequently arrived at Nelson, his 
intended destination, after having triggered two further 
SAR responses.

The RCCNZ also coordinated two high profile SAR 
missions that are likely to have an impact on the future 
development of SAR in New Zealand. The first search 
was for missing helicopter ZK-HTF. This very extensive 
search covered around 20,000 square kilometres 
in five and a half days (the largest aviation search 
in New Zealand history). In addition to its extensive 
nature, the search area was further complicated by 
adverse weather and very rugged terrain. The search 
was suspended by the Director of Civil Aviation after 
all probable areas had been extensively searched, and 
in consideration of the severely diminished likelihood 
of finding survivors. The RCCNZ continued to provide 
advice to a private search commissioned by the families 
of the crash victims, which subsequently located the 
missing helicopter, enabling the bodies of the two 
victims to be retrieved. This search was the subject 
of an independent review and Maritime New Zealand 

5 The Search and Rescue Council comprises Chief Executives (or their designated representative) of five public organisations with strong links to the search and rescue sector. The organisations are the 
Civil Aviation Authority, Maritime New Zealand, the New Zealand Police, the Ministry of Transport and the New Zealand Defence Force.

6 Serious harm is:  Death;  Any of the following conditions that amounts to or results in permanent loss of bodily function, or temporary severe loss of bodily function*:  respiratory disease, noise-induced 
hearing loss, neurological disease, cancer, dermatological disease, communicable disease, musculoskeletal disease, illness caused by exposure to infected material, decompression sickness, poisoning, 
vision impairment, chemical or hot metal burn of eye, penetrating wound of eye, bone fracture, laceration, crushing;  Amputation of body part;  Burns requiring referral to a specialist registered medical 
practitioner or specialist outpatient clinic;  Loss of consciousness from lack of oxygen;  Loss of consciousness, or acute illness requiring treatment by a registered medical practitioner, from absorption, 
inhalation, or ingestion, of any substance;  and any harm that causes the person harmed to be hospitalised for a period of 48 hours or more commencing within 7 days of the harm’s occurrence.

 *Note: a proposed change to the definition of ‘Serious Harm’ has been recommended by the Occupational Safety and Health Service of the Department of Labour to replace the phrase ‘temporary 
severe loss of bodily function’.

Continued over
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will be working with the SAR Council to implement 
opportunities identified to further improve New Zealand’s 
SAR system. The second search, for missing fishing 
vessel the Mi Jay, was again characterised by an 
extremely large search area. The vessel was not 
reported missing until 14 days after it left Nelson.  
The life raft belonging to the Mi Jay, containing the 
bodies of two crewmembers was subsequently 
found off the Kaikoura coast. The body of a third 
crewmember was not found.

Education and Partnerships

Guidelines

The safety Guidelines for small Commercial Fishing 
vessels were launched during the year. The guidelines 
were developed by FishSAFE, an industry/government 
partnership set up to improve the safety performance 
of the New Zealand commercial fishing sector. To 
support the guidelines the Seafood Industry Training 
Organisation provides free hazard identification and 
management training. A mentoring programme is also 
being developed throughout New Zealand. Guidelines 
for safe working Practice on Non-Fishing vessels, 
based on the FishSAFE guidelines, are also being 
developed in association with the passenger and  
non-passenger vessel sector.

Maritime New Zealand also released Health and 
Safety Guidelines to assist those working in or with 
the maritime sector to meet their obligations under the 
Health and Safety Employment Act 1992 (HSE Act). 
The guidelines provide information about responsibilities 
under the HSE Act, as well as advice on how to keep 
maritime sector workplaces healthy and safe.

Codes

A Code of Practice for New Zealand Seafarers on 
SOLAS (International Class) Ships, based on the 
existing United Kingdom Code for Seafarers, has 
been thoroughly reviewed and amended for domestic 
application, with appropriate references to New Zealand 
law and the HSE Act in particular. Maritime 
New Zealand will produce the code in a limited number 
of hard copies for use onboard ships. A larger number 
of compact discs will be produced and circulated to 
industry and training institutions, and the code will be 
available on Maritime New Zealand’s website.

Maritime New Zealand released a discussion paper 
on commercial kayaking and canoeing. The aim is 
to initiate discussion with these sectors on whether 
the current range of industry-led safety and quality 

initiatives are sufficient to sustain long term safety 
performance. It suggests that the development of a 
Maritime New Zealand voluntary Code of Practice 
could usefully complement, promote and support 
existing standards and, when operators are audited 
against it, provide an objective measure of safety 
performance. This would provide a basis for making  
a judgement on whether there is a case for mandatory 
safety management measures.

Recreational Boating

The recreational boating safety awareness programme 
continued to promote lifejacket use and the need 
to check the latest marine weather forecast before 
going out on the water, with television and radio 
commercials screening over the summer months. 
Surveys, anecdotal reports and feedback throughout 
the year all indicate that increasing numbers of people 
in small craft are wearing lifejackets. Surveys also 
suggest that almost 100% of craft now comply with 
the maritime rules requiring lifejackets to be carried 
on board vessels. Positive results from the campaign 
evaluation are supported by a reduction in fatalities in 
the recreational sector over the last three years. The 
nine fatalities recorded during 2005/06 is a significant 
improvement on a recent annual average of twenty 
fatalities per year.

The production of a new complimentary boating 
safety DVD during the year has increased Maritime 
New Zealand’s reach in taking safety messages to 
the users of the approximately 400,000 pleasure 
boats in New Zealand. Increasing cooperation 
between Maritime New Zealand staff and regional 
harbourmasters has assisted with ensuring targeted 
safety advice is provided to an increasing number  
of boat owners.

The New Zealand Injury Prevention Strategy

The New Zealand Injury Prevention Strategy7 provides 
the strategic direction and framework to improve 
New Zealand’s overall injury prevention record. During 
the year Maritime New Zealand contributed, along 
with other government agencies and stakeholders 
to the implementation of two supporting strategies 
of relevance to Maritime New Zealand functions: the 
Workplace Health and Safety Strategy for New Zealand 
to 2015 (WHSS) and the Drowning Prevention Strategy: 
Towards a Water Safe New Zealand 2005-2015. The 
associated work programme for the WHSS highlights 
a number of areas of planned Maritime New Zealand 
activity in relation to its role as the designated authority 

FROM STRATEgY TO AcTION
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for implementing the HSE Act on board ships and for 
ships as places of work. Early work in implementing  
the Drowning Prevention Strategy has focused on a 
review of the structure, governance and funding of  
the water safety sector.

Enforcement

During the year 25 foreign flagged SOLAS8 vessels 
were detained because they represented a danger to 
the safety of their crews or the marine environment 
(this compares to 17 in the previous year). A noticeable 
increase in sub-standard older vessels servicing 
the New Zealand/Australia/Singapore trade was of 
particular concern. Maritime New Zealand has made 
its concerns known to the owners of these vessels. 
No New Zealand flagged SOLAS vessels were 
detained over this period (although one foreign flagged 
chartered fishing vessel was detained).

Ten New Zealand flagged small commercial vessels 
were detained during the year compared with eight in 
the previous year.

The Director of Maritime New Zealand brought 
29 prosecutions during the year, all resulting in 
convictions. Five were for recreational vessels and 
24 for commercial vessels. Three of the prosecutions 
were brought under the HSE Act, with the other 
charges being under either the Maritime Transport Act 
1994 or Marine Offence Regulations.

Navigational Aids and Distress and 
Safety Radio Services

During the year the Mokohinau Island, Katiki Point 
and East Cape Lighthouses were repainted. The 
old lighthouses at Ackers Point and Cape Saunders 
were replaced by new aluminium towers and new 
equipment. Old equipment at Nugget Point and Katiki 
Point Lighthouses was upgraded, and the Beehive 
Island and Mullet Point Daybeacons were replaced. 
Extensive erosion control work was carried out around 
the Castle Point Lighthouse.

Pilot coast stations for ship automatic identification 
system (AIS) monitoring were established, covering 
waters in the Cook Strait and Hauraki/Poor Knights 
areas. The system provides a graphical readout and 
storage of SOLAS shipping movements in these areas. 
Information gathered by the system continues to 
provide useful data on ship tracks. Of particular  
note are vessels entering the exclusion area west of  

Poor Knights Islands (allowing both for radio broadcast 
warning and, if appropriate, enforcement action) and 
the ability to monitor activities in the Cook Strait.

Replacement of some capital items in the part of  
the radio network owned by Maritime New Zealand 
began with the replacement of large batteries at 
two radio facilities in Fiordland National Park. Asset 
replacement work will continue in 2006/07. A study 
into long-term trends in radio communications 
was also undertaken to assist in planning for future 
provision of radio service requirements.

The New Zealand Commercial Fleet

At year-end the number of New Zealand registered 
trading ships over 100 gross tonnes and over  
24 metres in length was 189 (192 in 2004/05). Total 
gross tonnage was 232,191 (224,070 in 2004/05). 
The number of New Zealand crewed ships operating 
(predominantly) in the New Zealand coastal trades at 
year-end was 13.

The small commercial vessel population grew over the 
year with 3,797 vessels (3,648 in 2005/06) being in 
Safe Ship Management Systems or operating under 
Safe Operational Plans (including 1,229 fishing boats, 
270 rafts and 97 jet boats).

ENVIRONMENTAl SUSTAINAbIlITY

Reduction in Operational Oil Spills

There were 88 operational oil spills reported in 2005/06. 
This demonstrates a favourable pattern of continuing 
decline compared to the 97 reported in 2004/05 and 
110 reported in 2003/04. Twenty eight percent of oil 
spills in 2005/06 were of unknown volume, compared 
to 20% in 2004/05. Fifty one (58%) oil spills, of known 
volume, were under 0.1 tonne in 2005/06, compared 
to 62 (64%) in 2004/05. There were 12 spills over 0.1 
tonne recorded over the year (14%), compared to the 
10 (10%) recorded in 2004/05. There were no Tier 39  
oil spill responses during 2005/06.

Exercise Hardrock

Maritime New Zealand is legally required to carry  
out a national oil spill response exercise every four 
years, and this year saw Exercise hardrock undertaken 
in response to an exercise scenario which included 
simulated oil spills in Wellington and Picton.  

8 Means any ship to which the International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea 1974 applies; namely:  a passenger ship engaged on an international voyage;  or a non-passenger ship of  
500 tons or more engaged on an international voyage (Part 20, Maritime Rules).

9 Oil Spills where responsibility for response lies with Maritime New Zealand. This involves spills within a region which are beyond the resources of the region, or which occur within the EEZ, but outside 
regional council boundaries. Also includes spills that may require international assistance.

Continued over
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The exercise also represented a significant departure  
from previous scenarios in that search and rescue  
and maritime security components were included 
for the first time. This allowed an examination of 
how different parts of Maritime New Zealand work 
together in a crisis as well as in partnership with 
external agencies. Exercise hardrock fully tested the 
New Zealand oil spill response network, presenting 
a major logistical challenge to move people and 
equipment to where they needed to be. The exercise 
presented invaluable learning opportunities, but also 
showed that New Zealand is well prepared to deal  
with such emergencies.

Gladstone

Four staff members from Maritime New Zealand’s 
Marine Pollution Response Service team gained 
some first hand experience assisting Maritime 
Safety Queensland in a real life clean up effort after a 
significant oil spill in Gladstone Harbour, Australia.  
The offer to observe and participate in the clean up 
was gratefully received and provided worthwhile 
training and experience in command and control, 
shore clean up assessments, media management  
and wildlife rehabilitation.

Regulation

An amendment to the Marine Protection (Offences) 
Regulations 1998 came into force on 8 September 
2005 empowering infringement notices to be issued 
for unlawful entry into the Poor Knights and Three 
Kings Areas to be Avoided.

The Maritime Transport (Certificates of Insurance) 
Regulations 2005 came into force on 28 July 2005. 
These regulations extend the requirement for adequate 
oil spill public indemnity insurance to all ships over 
400 tonnes in New Zealand marine waters (including 
waters over the Continental Shelf).

SEcURITY

Cook Strait Ferries

Risk assessments completed during the year 
identified that the Cook Strait ferry services would be 
vulnerable in the event of an increased terrorist threat 
to New Zealand. To ensure that the services could 
continue to operate in such an environment both the 
Interislander and Strait Shipping companies have 
volunteered to become compliant with the Maritime 
Security Act by 31 March 2007. This will require the 

companies to prepare, but not necessarily institute, 
approved security plans that allow, for example, ticket 
matching to photo identification as well as screening 
and random searching of baggage and vehicles within 
24 hours of an increased alert.

South Pacific Capacity Building

During the year, Maritime New Zealand continued its 
active involvement in building security capacity in both 
Melanesia and Polynesia. This was funded through 
the New Zealand government’s Pacific Security Fund. 
Work during the year included assisting Vanuatu to 
become compliant with the International Ship and Port 
Security Code, and sponsoring the regional maritime 
programme of the Secretariat of the Pacific Community.

cAPAbIlITY

Oil Skimmer Barges

New Zealand’s oil spill response capability received 
a significant boost during the year with the launching 
of two further oil skimmer barges to complement the 
first, which was launched in 2004/05. The barges 
are strategically placed around the country for rapid 
deployment in the event of a major oil spill. The 
barges significantly strengthen New Zealand’s oil spill 
response equipment and allow oil spill responders to 
go directly to the spill rather than waiting to collect oil.

Information Technology

A review of Maritime New Zealand’s IT system has 
determined that the core business IT application used 
in the organisation is at a stage where it is posing 
a number of risks and needs to be replaced. An 
Information Services Strategic Plan was developed 
during the year and funding obtained to allow the 
upgrade to occur. As well, Maritime New Zealand has 
implemented the first stages of the business design 
for the new system, and completed a proof of concept 
that has demonstrated the proposed application 
architecture can deliver the expected business 
benefits. The upgrade will be a major work project  
over the coming three years.
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Performance at a Glance
SAFETY

Reported Fatalities in the Commercial and Recreational Sectors 2002 – 2006

Serious Injuries in the Commercial Sector 2002 – 2006

Reported Accidents and Incidents in the Commercial and Recreational Sectors 
2002 – 2006

Commercial Fatalities Recreational Fatalities

Serious Injuries Commercial

Commercial Recreational
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ENVIRONMENTAl SUSTAINAbIlITY

Reported Operational Oil Spills

Operational Oil Spills

By volume (tonnes)
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FINANcIAl STATEMENTS

Statement of Responsibility
For the year ended 30 June 2006

The preparation of financial statements of Maritime New Zealand and the judgements used herein are the 
responsibility of the Authority members and management.

The establishment and maintenance of an internal control system designed to provide reasonable assurance as 
to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2006 are the responsibility of 
the Authority members and management.

In the opinion of the Authority members and management, financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2006 
fairly reflect the financial position and operations of Maritime New Zealand.

Susie Staley Russell Kilvington
Chairman Director of Maritime New Zealand
27 October 2006 27 October 2006
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AUdIT REPORT

To the readers of  
Maritime New Zealand’s  
Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 june 2006

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Maritime New Zealand (the Authority).  
The Auditor-General has appointed me, H C Lim, using the staff and resources  
of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements of the 
Authority, on his behalf, for the year ended 30 June 2006.

Unqualified opinion

In our opinion the financial statements of Authority on pages 31 to 60:

comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and

fairly reflect:

the Authority’s financial position as at 30 June 2006;

the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date; and

its service performance achievements measured against the performance targets adopted for the  
year ended on that date.

The audit was completed on 27 October 2006, and is the date at which our opinion is expressed.

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board and the 
Auditor, and explain our independence.

Basis of opinion

We carried out the audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the 
New Zealand Auditing Standards.

We planned and performed the audit to obtain all the information and explanations we considered necessary in 
order to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements did not have material misstatements, whether 
caused by fraud or error.

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would affect a reader’s 
overall understanding of the financial statements. If we had found material misstatements that were not corrected, 
we would have referred to them in our opinion.

The audit involved performing procedures to test the information presented in the financial statements. We 
assessed the results of those procedures in forming our opinion.

Audit procedures generally include:

determining whether significant financial and management controls are working and can be relied on to 
produce complete and accurate data;

verifying samples of transactions and account balances;

■

■

■

■

■

■

■
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FINANcIAl STATEMENTS

performing analyses to identify anomalies in the reported data;

reviewing significant estimates and judgements made by the Board;

confirming year-end balances;

determining whether accounting policies are appropriate and consistently applied; and

determining whether all financial statement disclosures are adequate.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the financial statements.

We evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements. We obtained  
all the information and explanations we required to support our opinion above.

Responsibilities of the Board and the Auditor

The Board is responsible for preparing financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practice in New Zealand. Those financial statements must fairly reflect the financial position of the Authority as at 
30 June 2006. They must also fairly reflect the results of its operations and cash flows and service performance 
achievements for the year ended on that date. The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Public Finance Act 1989.

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and reporting that opinion 
to you. This responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and the Public Finance Act 1989.

Independence

When carrying out the audit we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General, which 
incorporate the independence requirements of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of New Zealand.

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the Authority.

H C lim
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Wellington, New Zealand

■

■

■

■

■

Matters relatinG to the eleCtroniC presentation of the audited finanCial stateMents

This audit report relates to the financial statements of Maritime New Zealand for the year ended 30 June 2006 included 
on Maritime New Zealand’s web site. The Board of Maritime New Zealand is responsible for the maintenance and integrity 
of Maritime New Zealand’s web site. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of Maritime New Zealand’s web 
site. We accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially 
presented on the web site.

The audit report refers only to the financial statements named above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information 
which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial statements. If readers of this report are concerned with the inherent 
risks arising from electronic data communication they should refer to the published hard copy of the audited financial 
statements and related audit report dated 27 October 2006 to confirm the information included in the audited financial 
statements presented on this web site.

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation  
in other jurisdictions.
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Statement of Accounting Policies
For the year ended 30 June 2006

 REPORTINg ENTITY
The financial statements presented are those of 
Maritime New Zealand (the Authority).

The Authority is a Crown entity established in August 
1993 under the Maritime Transport Act. The objective 
of the Authority is to undertake its safety, security, 
marine protection, and other functions in a way that 
contributes to the aim of achieving an integrated, safe, 
responsive, and sustainable transport system.

The financial statements of the Authority have been 
prepared in accordance with the Public Finance Act 
1989 and s152 of the Crown Entities Act 2004.

MEASUREMENT bASE
The measurement base applied is historical cost.  
The accrual basis of accounting has been used  
unless otherwise stated. These financial statements 
are presented in New Zealand dollars.

AccOUNTINg POlIcIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been applied consistently 
to all periods presented in these financial statements.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

The financial statements are prepared on a GST 
exclusive basis, with the exception of accounts 
receivable and accounts payable, which include GST. 
Where GST is irrecoverable as an input tax, then it is 
recognised as part of the related asset or expense.

Taxation

The Authority is a public authority in terms of the 
Income Tax Act 2004 and consequently is exempt 
from income tax.

Budget Figures

The budget figures are those approved by the 
Authority at the beginning of the financial year.

The budget figures have been prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting practice and are 
consistent with the accounting policies adopted by the 
Authority for the preparation of the financial statements.

Revenue
The Authority derives revenue through the provision  
of outputs to the Crown, for services to third 
parties and interest on investments. Such revenue 
is recognised when earned and is reported in the 
financial period to which it relates.

Expenses
Expenses are recognised in the financial period to 
which they relate.

Operating Leases
Operating lease payments, where the lessors 
effectively retain substantially all the risks and benefits 
of ownership of the leased item, are charged as an 
expense in the period in which they relate.

Cost Allocation
The Authority has derived the cost of outputs using  
a cost allocation system which is outlined below.

Assigning Costs to Outputs

Direct costs are charged directly to output activities. 
Depreciation and capital charges are assigned on the 
basis of asset utilisation. Indirect costs are charged 
to output activities based on cost drivers and related 
activity/usage information.

For the year ended 30 June 2006, indirect costs 
accounted for 20% of the Authority’s total costs  
(2005: 26%).

Criteria for Direct and Indirect Costs

‘Direct costs’ are those costs directly attributable  
to an output activity.

‘Indirect costs’ are those costs which cannot be 
attributed in an economically feasible manner with  
a specific output activity.

Financial Instruments
The Authority is party to various financial instruments 
as part of its normal operations. These financial 
instruments include bank accounts, short term 
deposits, debtors and creditors. All financial 
instruments are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position and all revenues and expenses in 
relation to financial instruments are recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Performance.
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Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are stated at their estimated 
realisable value after providing for doubtful and 
uncollectable debts.

Spare Parts

Spare parts are valued at weighted average cost.

Investments

Short-term investments are deposited with registered 
New Zealand banks. Short-term investments are 
recognised at lower of cost or net realisable value.

Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are recorded at cost at the time of 
acquisition or creation. Land transferred at nil value 
from the Ministry of Transport on establishment of  
the Authority is held at nil value.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis, at 
rates calculated to allocate the cost over the estimated 
useful life of the asset.

The useful lives and associated depreciation rates used 
in the preparation of these statements are as follows:

Lighthouses 10-40 years 2.5-10% straight line

Buoys, day beacons and 
navigational lights

10 years 10.0% straight line

Plant and equipment 5-10 years 10-20% straight line

Motor vehicles 5 years 20.0% straight line

furniture, fittings and office 
equipment

5 years 20.0% straight line

Computer equipment  
& software

3 years 33.3% straight line

Leasehold improvements 2-4 years 29-39% straight line

While the policy is to depreciate lighthouses over 40 
years, all lighthouses were acquired by the Authority 
at the time of establishment and are depreciated over 
their estimated remaining useful life.

The cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised and 
depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease.

Items under construction are not depreciated. The total 
cost of a capital project is transferred to the appropriate 
asset class on its completion and then depreciated.

Employee Entitlements

Annual leave

Provision is made for annual leave payable to 
employees on the basis of statutory and contractual 
entitlements at current rates of pay.

Commitments

Commitments disclosed include those operating and 
capital commitments arising from non-cancellable 
contractual or statutory obligations.

Contingent Liabilities

Contingent liabilities are disclosed at the point at which 
the contingency is evident.

STATEMENT OF cASH FlOwS
Cash means cash balances on hand, held in bank 
accounts and demand deposits in which the Authority 
invests as part of its day-to-day cash management.

Operating activities include cash received from all 
income sources and record the cash payments made 
for the supply of goods and services.

Investing activities are those activities relating to the 
acquisition and disposal of non-current assets.

Financing activities comprise the change in equity and 
debt capital structure of the Authority.

cHANgES IN AccOUNTINg 
POlIcIES
There have been no changes in accounting policies 
including cost allocation policies since the date of the 
last audited financial statements. The policies have 
been applied on bases consistent with prior years.
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Statement of Financial Performance
For the year ended 30 June 2006

notes

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Crown revenue 8,515 8,514 6,594

Marine safety charges revenue 12,423 11,089 10,819

Other revenue 1 4,160 4,723 4,517

Interest income 374 117 234

Total operating revenue 25,472 24,443 22,164

Cost of services 2 25,490 24,925 23,242

Net operating surplus/(deficit) (18) (482) (1,078)

Statement of Movements in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2006

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Net operating surplus/(deficit) (18) (482) (1,078)

Total recognised revenues & expenses for the year (18) (482) (1,078)

Capital Contribution 1,300 - -

Transfer of Search and Rescue Equity - - 976

Total equity as at 1 July 7,664 7,677 7,766

total equity as at 30 June 8,946 7,195 7,664

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2006

notes

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

eQuity

 Crown contribution 5,725 5,118 4,829

 Retained earnings 3,221 2,077 2,835

total eQuitY 8,946 7,195 7,664

Represented by:

assets

Current assets

 Cash 1,068 293 586

 Short term investments 2,903 2,476 987

 Receivables and prepayments 3 2,405 2,220 3,281

 Spare parts 272 230 269

Total current assets 6,648 5,219 5,123

Non-current assets

 Fixed assets 4 5,287 5,660 5,479

Total non-current assets 5,287 5,660 5,479

Total assets 11,935 10,879 10,602

liabilities

Current liabilities

 Accounts payable 5 2,292 2,870 2,449

 Employee entitlement provisions 6 697 814 489

Total current liabilities 2,989 3,684 2,938

Total liabilities 2,989 3,684 2,938

Net aSSetS 8,946 7,195 7,664

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2006

notes

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Cash flows froM operatinG aCtivities

Cash was received from:

 Crown funding 8,515 8,514 6,594

 Fees and charges 16,024 13,966 13,501

 Other 1,403 1,926 1,283

 Interest received 362 117 238

 Net Goods and Services Tax - 67 -

26,304 24,590 21,616

Cash was applied to:

 Capital charge 424 410 385

 Payments to suppliers 13,563 12,214 11,086

 Personnel and related payments 10,124 10,071 9,851

 Net Goods and Services Tax 50 - 94

24,161 22,695 21,416

Net cash flow from operating activities 11 2,143 1,895 200

Cash flows froM investinG aCtivities

Cash was received from:

 Sale of fixed assets 39 - 54

 Investments - - 776

39 - 830

Cash was applied to:

 Investments 1,916 175 -

 Purchase of fixed assets 1,084 1,720 1,318

3,000 1,895 1,318

Net cash flow from investing activities (2,961) (1,895) (488)

Cashflows froM finanCinG aCtivities

 Transfer from Civil Aviation Authority - - 644

 Capital contribution 1,300 - -

Net cash flow from financing activities 1,300 - 644

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 482 - 356

Add opening cash 586 293 230

Closing cash balance 1,068 293 586

Cheque account 81 25 8

Petty cash 4 4 4

Call deposits 983 264 574

Closing cash balance 1,068 293 586

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of Commitments
As at 30 June 2006

aCtual
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

operatinG CoMMitMents are as follows:

Accommodation leases

 Less than one year 682 617

 One year less than two years 923 480

 Two years less than five years 2,712 466

 Longer than five years 3,595 319

7,91210 1,882

Non-accommodation leases

 Less than one year 10 10

 One year less than two years 10 10

 Two years less than five years 29 29

 Longer than five years 42 51

91 100

supplies of Goods and services

 Less than one year 2,803 2,803

 One year less than two years 2,578 2,803

 Two years less than five years 4,766 7,344

 Longer than five years - -

10,147 12,950

Total Operating Commitments 18,150 14,932

Total Commitments 18,150 14,932

Statement of Contingent Liabilities
As at 30 June 2006

There were no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2006 (Nil at 30 June 2005).

10 Maritime New Zealand’s Wellington office lease expires on 31 January 2007. Maritime New Zealand has entered into a new lease for office accommodation for a period of nine years.

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2006

NOTE 1: OTHER REVENUE
aCtual

2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Seafarer Licensing 160 155

Ship Registration 123 154

Oil Pollution Recovery 2,334 2,211

Funding from Crown Agencies 1,082 933

User charges 86 104

Sponsorship 154 821

Bad debts recovered 23 35

Gain on sale of assets 26 19

Rental income 24 24

Other income 148 61

4,160 4,517

NOTE 2: cOST OF SERVIcES
aCtual

2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Personnel and related costs 10,076 9,643

Authority members’ fees 98 95

Professional and safety services 5,170 4,549

Operating 1,565 1,320

Rental and lease costs 720 660

Maintenance 1,061 707

Travel 1,188 940

Administration 887 901

Bad debts written-off 29 49

(Decrease)/increase in provision for doubtful debts (20) (2)

Fixed assets written-off - 4

Fees paid to auditors

 external audit 76 34

 other services - -

Marketing and public relations 1,476 2,116

Donations 11 11

Search costs 1,291 404

Capital charge 424 385

Depreciation

 Lighthouses 38 37

 Buoys, day beacons and navigational lights 56 51

 Plant and equipment 685 678

 Motor vehicles 139 114

 Furniture, fittings and office equipment 108 105

 Computer equipment and software 299 359

 Leasehold improvements 113 82

Total depreciation 1,438 1,426

25,490 23,242
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NOTE 3: REcEIVAblES ANd PREPAYMENTS
aCtual

2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Trade debtors 1,581 2,017

Less provision for doubtful debts (1) (21)

Net trade receivables 1,580 1,996

Other accounts receivable 525 1,074

GST refundable 108 38

Prepayments 192 173

Total receivables and prepayments 2,405 3,281

NOTE 4: FIxEd ASSETS
Cost

$000

aCCuM.
depn.

$000

net booK
value

$000

as at 30 June 2006

Lighthouses 1,572 680 892

Buoys, day beacons and navigational lights 1,805 1,555 250

Plant and equipment 8,418 5,749 2,669

Motor vehicles 895 371 524

Furniture, fittings and office equipment 792 655 137

Computer equipment and software 2,564 2,113 451

Leasehold improvements 363 208 155

work in progress:

 Plant and equipment 41 - 41

 Leasehold improvements 103 - 103

 Buoys, day beacons and navigational lights 65 - 65

Total work in progress 209 - 209

Total 16,618 11,331 5,287

as at 30 June 2005

Lighthouses 1,508 643 865

Buoys, day beacons and navigational lights 1,699 1,506 193

Plant and equipment 8,640 5,563 3,077

Motor vehicles 765 386 379

Furniture, fittings and office equipment 761 545 216

Computer equipment and software 2,383 1,872 511

Leasehold improvements 306 96 210

work in progress:

 Motor vehicles 26 - 26

 Computer equipment and software 2 - 2

Total work in progress 28 - 28

total 16,090 10,611 5,479

In accordance with accounting policies, fixed assets exclude land holdings transferred at nil value to the Authority 
from the Ministry of Transport on establishment in 1993. The estimated value of the Authority’s land holding at  
30 June 2006 is $1,383,000 (2004/05 $1,423,500).
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NOTE 5: PAYAblES ANd AccRUAlS
aCtual

2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Trade creditors 1,351 917

GST payable 20 -

Accrued expenses 921 1,532

Total 2,292 2,449

NOTE 6: EMPlOYEE ENTITlEMENTS
aCtual

2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Current:

 Annual leave 560 458

 Salaries and wages 137 31

Total 697 489

NOTE 7: RElATEd PARTY TRANSAcTIONS
The Authority undertakes transactions with government departments and other Crown entities. These 
transactions are carried out on an arms’ length basis and it is considered that these do not fall within the intended 
scope of related party disclosures.

The Authority is responsible for administering the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund and in doing so incurs costs 
directly. These costs are recovered from the Fund. The amount of costs recovered in 2005/06 was $2,334,000 
($2,211,000 2004/2005). The amount receivable at year-end was $431,000 ($361,000 2004/2005).

The Chairman is a Director of Tower Limited. Tower Employee Benefits Limited, a subsidiary of Tower Limited, has 
been contracted to administer the Maritime New Zealand employee superannuation scheme. The total value of 
the Maritime New Zealand employer contribution in 2005/06 was $367,000 ($344,000 2004/2005). This service 
was supplied on normal commercial terms.

There were no other related party transactions.

NOTE 8: FINANcIAl INSTRUMENTS
Credit risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Authority to concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of 
cash, deposits and accounts receivable. The Authority places its cash in fixed interest securities with major banks. 
Funds are invested in accordance with the investment powers under the Public Finance Act.

Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to the Authority, causing the Authority to incur  
a loss. The Authority incurs credit risk from Accounts Receivable in the normal course of its business.

Currency risk

The Authority had no currency risk, given that any financial instruments it dealt with during the year were in 
New Zealand dollars.

Interest rate risk

The Authority does not consider that there is any significant interest exposure on Maritime New Zealand’s investments.

Fair value

The fair value of all financial instruments is equivalent to the carrying amount disclosed in the financial statements.
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NOTE 9: EMPlOYEE REMUNERATION
During the year the number of employees who received remuneration and 
other benefits in excess of $100,000 are:

 nuMber of eMployees

aCtual
2006

aCtual
2005

total reMuneration and benefits $

100,000 to 110,000 2 3

110,001 to 120,000 2 1

120,001 to 130,000 2 1

130,001 to 140,000 1 2

140,001 to 150,000 3 1

150,001 to 160,000 - 2

170,001 to 180,000 2 -

260,001 to 270,000 1 1

280,001 to 290,000 - 1

The Director of Maritime New Zealand’s remuneration is in the $260,001 to $270,000 band (2004/2005: 
$260,001 to $270,000).

During the financial year, one former employee of Maritime New Zealand received $39,000 compensation, on 
termination of employment.

Note: The above remuneration includes employer’s contributions to superannuation and insurance schemes and 
at risk performance payments made during the year.

NOTE 10: AUTHORITY FEES
Authority members earned the following fees during the year:

aCtual
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

MeMber

Susie Staley (Chairman from December 2002) 33 30

David Morgan (Deputy Chairman from July 2005) 21 20

Pauline Barratt (to 31 March 2006) 12 15

Ken Gilligan 16 15

Adrienne Young Cooper 16 15

98 95
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NOTE 11: REcONcIlIATION OF NET SURPlUS FROM OPERATIONS wITH 
NET cASH FlOwS FROM OPERATINg AcTIVITIES

aCtual
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Reported net operating surplus (18) (1,078)

Add/(deduct) non cash items:

 Depreciation 1,438 1,426

 Fixed assets written-off - 5

Total non-cash items 1,438 1,431

Add/(deduct) movements in working capital:

 (Increase)/decrease in spare parts (4) (10)

 (Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable 736 29

 Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable, including provisions 209 (5)

 (Increase)/decrease in prepayments (18) (423)

Working capital movements – net 923 (409)

Add/(deduct) investing activities:

 Increase in fixed asset accruals (174) 275

 Loss/(gain) on sale of fixed assets (26) (19)

Total investing activity items (200) 256

Net cash flows from operating activities 2,143 200

NOTE 12: MAjOR bUdgET VARIATIONS
Marine Safety Charge (MSC)

The MSC was higher than budget because the 15% increase in MSC for foreign going vessels was implemented 
a month earlier than budgeted. Port calls did not reduce to the extent anticipated and there was an increase in 
the number of cruise vessels visiting New Zealand.

Other Revenue

Other revenue is lower than budget with lower than expected from sponsorship revenue and other income. 
Maritime New Zealand did not attract sponsorship funding to the same level as earlier years. As a result marketing 
costs were curtailed and education and awareness campaigns for recreational boating did not proceed. Other 
income was higher from inter-agency funding for work undertaken by Maritime New Zealand relating to search 
and rescue and security in the Pacific Islands.

Interest Revenue

Interest revenue was above budget because of an increase in funds held on deposit.

Cost of Services

The Cost of Services exceeded budget mainly from professional services and search costs. Higher professional 
services, including the cost of legal services, reflect increased regulatory activity undertaken by Maritime 
New Zealand. Search costs were higher as a result of the largest aviation search ever conducted in New Zealand.
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OUTPUT clASS 1: MARITIME REgUlATION ANd MONITORINg

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Crown revenue 4,631 4,631 3,720

Marine safety charges revenue 12,423 11,089 10,819

User charges 369 405 431

Crown agencies 1,046 1,076 933

Other revenue 278 850 892

Interest income 267 100 204

Total operating revenue 19,014 18,151 16,999

Governance and Government relations 1,049 1,183 861

Communication and awareness 3,672 4,186 3,969

Monitoring and compliance 5,986 5,408 5,018

Risk analysis and targeting 2,023 2,095 1,839

Safety and security services 6,103 6,261 6,145

Response capability - - 64

Total expenditure 18,833 19,133 17,896

Net operating surplus/(deficit) 181 (982) (897)

TOTAl REVENUE 2005/06

33% Crown revenue

49% Marine safety charges revenue

1% User charges

4% Crown agencies

9% Oil pollution recovery

2% Other

2% Interest income
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cROwN REVENUE FOR 
MARITIME REgUlATION ANd 
MONITORINg bY OUTPUT

15% Governance & Government relations

5% Communications & education awareness

17% Monitoring & compliance

9% Risk analysis & targeting

54% Safety & security services

MARINE SAFETY cHARgE REVENUE 
FOR MARITIME REgUlATION ANd 
MONITORINg bY OUTPUT

2% Governance & Government relations

18% Communications & education awareness

43% Monitoring & compliance

3% Risk analysis & targeting

34% Safety & security services

MARITIME REgUlATION ANd 
MONITORINg ExPENdITURE 
bY OUTPUT

6% Governance & Government relations

19% Communications & education awareness

32% Monitoring & compliance

11% Risk analysis & targeting

32% Safety & security services
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OUTPUT clASS 3: SEARcH ANd REScUE

aCtual
2006
$100

budGet
2006
$100

aCtual
2005
$100

Crown revenue 3,884 3,883 2,874

Other revenue 86 - 38

Interest income 107 17 30

Total operating revenue 4,077 3,900 2,942

Total expenditure 4,298 3,400 3,125

Net operating surplus/(deficit) (221) 500 (183)

MARINE ENVIRONMENT 
PROTEcTION REVENUE

2% Crown agencies

98% Oil pollution recovery

0% Other

OUTPUT clASS 2: MARINE ENVIRONMENT PROTEcTION

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Crown agencies 36 - -

Oil pollution recovery 2,334 2,392 2,211

Other revenue 10 - 12

Total operating revenue 2,380 2,392 2,223

Total expenditure 2,359 2,392 2,221

Net operating surplus/(deficit) 21 - 2

SEARcH ANd REScUE REVENUE

95% Governance & Government relations

2% Other

3% Interest income
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Segment Reporting
The financial statements of the Authority consolidate the activities of the Rescue Coordination Centre 
New Zealand (RCCNZ), with Maritime New Zealand’s traditional business activities.

From 1 November 2004, administration of the RCCNZ was transferred from the Civil Aviation Authority to Maritime 
New Zealand. The additional financial information provided in this section discloses RCCNZ’s financial activities 
and Maritime New Zealand’s traditional business activities.

The search activity undertaken by RCCNZ can vary from year to year and may result in a financial deficit 
or surplus. The Performance Agreement between the Minister of Transport and Maritime New Zealand 
acknowledges that the demand for search and rescue services cannot be accurately predicted and provides the 
opportunity for additional Crown funding to be obtained in these circumstances.

Statement of Financial Performance
For the year ended 30 June 2006

MaritiMe nZ rCCnZ Group

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

 Crown revenue 4,631 4,631 3,720 3,884 3,883 2,874 8,515 8,514 6,594

 Marine safety charges revenue 12,423 11,089 10,819 - - - 12,423 11,089 10,819

 Other revenue 4,074 4,723 4,479 86 - 38 4,160 4,723 4,517

 Interest income 267 100 204 107 17 30 374 117 234

Total operating revenue 21,395 20,543 19,222 4,077 3,900 2,942 25,472 24,443 22,164

 Personnel and related costs 8,698 8,652 8,321 1,378 1,385 1,322 10,076 10,037 9,643

 Authority members’ fees 98 93 95 - - - 98 93 95

 Professional and safety services 4,755 4,536 4,216 415 333 333 5,170 4,869 4,549

 Operating 1,463 1,385 1,221 102 114 99 1,565 1,499 1,320

 Rental and lease costs 643 681 586 77 55 74 720 736 660

 Maintenance 1,044 1,026 687 17 48 20 1,061 1,074 707

 Travel 1,133 986 910 55 100 30 1,188 1,086 940

 Administration 842 951 815 45 45 86 887 996 901

 Bad debts written-off 29 35 49 - - - 29 35 49

 Provision for doubtful debts (20) - (2) - - - (20) - (2)

 Fixed assets written-off - - 4 - - - - - 4

 Fees paid to auditors 56 36 34 20 - - 76 36 34

 Marketing and public relations 1,473 2,192 2,105 3 8 11 1,476 2,200 2,116

 Donations 11 10 11 - - - 11 10 11

 Search costs - - - 1,291 366 404 1,291 366 404

 Capital charge 308 308 308 116 102 77 424 410 385

 Depreciation 1,124 1,123 1,114 314 355 312 1,438 1,478 1,426

 Inter-group charges (465) (488) (357) 465 488 357 - - -

Cost of services 21,192 21,526 20,117 4,298 3,399 3,125 25,490 24,925 23,242

Net operating surplus/(deficit) 203 (983) (895) (221) 501 (183) (18) (482) (1,078)
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Statement of Movements in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2006

MaritiMe nZ rCCnZ Group

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Net operating surplus/(deficit) 203 (983) (895) (221) 501 (183) (18) (482) (1,078)

Total recognised revenues & 
expenses for the year

203 (983) (895) (221) 501 (183) (18) (482) (1,078)

Capital contribution - - - 1,300 - - 1,300 - -

Transfer of search and rescue 
equity

- - - - - 976 - - 976

Total equity as at 1 July 6,871 6,913 7,766 793 764 - 7,664 7,677 7,766

total equity as at 30 June 7,074 5,930 6,871 1,872 1,265 793 8,946 7,195 7,664
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2006

MaritiMe nZ rCCnZ eliMinations Group

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

eQuity

Crown contribution 3,853 3,853 3,853 1,872 1,265 976 - - - 5,725 5,118 4,829

Retained earnings 3,221 2,077 3,018 - - (183) - - - 3,221 2,077 2,835

total eQuitY 7,074 5,930 6,871 1,872 1,265 793 - - - 8,946 7,195 7,664

Represented by:

assets

Current assets

 Cash 836 74 371 232 219 215 - - - 1,068 293 586

 Short term investments 2,200 1,925 987 703 551 - - - - 2,903 2,476 987

 Receivables & prepayments 2,324 2,103 3,163 122 117 588 (41) - (470) 2,405 2,220 3,281

 Spare parts 272 230 269 - - - - - - 272 230 269

Total current assets 5,632 4,332 4,790 1,057 887 803 (41) - (470) 6,648 5,219 5,123

Non-current assets

 Fixed assets 4,197 4,253 4,355 1,090 1,407 1,124 - - - 5,287 5,660 5,479

Total non-current assets 4,197 4,253 4,355 1,090 1,407 1,124 - - - 5,287 5,660 5,479

Total assets 9,829 8,585 9,145 2,147 2,294 1,927 (41) - (470) 11,935 10,879 10,602

liabilities

Current liabilities

 Accounts payable 2,124 1,903 1,827 209 967 1,092 (41) - (470) 2,292 2,870 2,449

 Employee entitlement provisions 631 752 447 66 62 42 - - - 697 814 489

Total current liabilities 2,755 2,655 2,274 275 1,029 1,134 (41) - (470) 2,989 3,684 2,938

Total liabilities 2,755 2,655 2,274 275 1,029 1,134 (41) - (470) 2,989 3,684 2,938

Net aSSetS 7,074 5,930 6,871 1,872 1,265 793 - - - 8,946 7,195 7,664
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2006

MaritiMe nZ rCCnZ eliMinations Group

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

eQuity

Crown contribution 3,853 3,853 3,853 1,872 1,265 976 - - - 5,725 5,118 4,829

Retained earnings 3,221 2,077 3,018 - - (183) - - - 3,221 2,077 2,835

total eQuitY 7,074 5,930 6,871 1,872 1,265 793 - - - 8,946 7,195 7,664

Represented by:

assets

Current assets

 Cash 836 74 371 232 219 215 - - - 1,068 293 586

 Short term investments 2,200 1,925 987 703 551 - - - - 2,903 2,476 987

 Receivables & prepayments 2,324 2,103 3,163 122 117 588 (41) - (470) 2,405 2,220 3,281

 Spare parts 272 230 269 - - - - - - 272 230 269

Total current assets 5,632 4,332 4,790 1,057 887 803 (41) - (470) 6,648 5,219 5,123

Non-current assets

 Fixed assets 4,197 4,253 4,355 1,090 1,407 1,124 - - - 5,287 5,660 5,479

Total non-current assets 4,197 4,253 4,355 1,090 1,407 1,124 - - - 5,287 5,660 5,479

Total assets 9,829 8,585 9,145 2,147 2,294 1,927 (41) - (470) 11,935 10,879 10,602

liabilities

Current liabilities

 Accounts payable 2,124 1,903 1,827 209 967 1,092 (41) - (470) 2,292 2,870 2,449

 Employee entitlement provisions 631 752 447 66 62 42 - - - 697 814 489

Total current liabilities 2,755 2,655 2,274 275 1,029 1,134 (41) - (470) 2,989 3,684 2,938

Total liabilities 2,755 2,655 2,274 275 1,029 1,134 (41) - (470) 2,989 3,684 2,938

Net aSSetS 7,074 5,930 6,871 1,872 1,265 793 - - - 8,946 7,195 7,664
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2006

MaritiMe nZ rCCnZ Group

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Cash flows froM operatinG aCtivities

Cash was received from:

 Crown funding 4,631 4,630 4,190 3,884 3,884 2,404 8,515 8,514 6,594

 Fees and charges 16,024 13,966 13,501 - - - 16,024 13,966 13,501

 Other 1,346 1,926 1,280 57 - 3 1,403 1,926 1,283

 Interest received 256 101 208 106 16 30 362 117 238

 Net Goods and Services Tax - 26 - - 41 - - 67 -

22,257 20,649 19,179 4,047 3,941 2,437 26,304 24,590 21,616

Cash was applied to:

 Capital charge 308 308 308 116 102 77 424 410 385

 Payments to suppliers 10,665 10,899 10,304 2,898 1,315 782 13,563 12,214 11,086

 Personnel and related payments 8,783 8,697 8,515 1,341 1,374 1,336 10,124 10,071 9,851

 Net Goods and Services Tax 52 - 47 (2) - 47 50 - 94

19,808 19,904 19,174 4,353 2,791 2,242 24,161 22,695 21,416

Net cash flow from operating activities 2,449 745 5 (306) 1,150 195 2,143 1,895 200

Cash flows froM investinG aCtivities

Cash was received from:

 Sale of fixed assets 34 - 42 5 - 12 39 - 54

 Investments - - 776 - - - - - 776

34 - 818 5 - 12 39 - 830

Cash was applied to:

 Investments 1,213 (240) - 703 415 - 1,916 175 -

 Purchase of fixed assets 805 985 682 279 735 636 1,084 1,720 1,318

2,018 745 682 982 1,150 636 3,000 1,895 1,318

Net cash flow from investing activities (1,984) (745) 136 (977) (1,150) (624) (2,961) (1,895) (488)

Cashflows froM finanCinG aCtivities

Transfer from Civil Aviation Authority - - - - - 644 - - 644

Capital contribution - - - 1,300 - - 1,300 - -

Net cash flow from financing activities - - - 1,300 - 644 1,300 - 644

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 465 - 17 - 482 - 356

Add opening cash 371 74 215 219 586 293 230

Closing cash balance 836 74 232 219 1,068 293 586

Cheque account 79 20 2 5 81 25 8

Petty cash 4 4 - - 4 4 4

Call deposits 753 50 230 214 983 264 574

Closing cash balance 836 74 232 219 1,068 293 586
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New Zealand Equivalents  
to International Financial  
Reporting Standards
In December 2002, the New Zealand’s accounting 
standard-setting bodies announced a significant 
change to financial reporting standards. For periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2007, New Zealand 
reporting entities will be required to apply New Zealand 
equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 
(NZ IFRS). Entities have the option of early adoption for 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005. Maritime 
New Zealand (the Authority) and the New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund (the Fund) intend to adopt NZ IFRS from 
1 July 2007 with the financial statements for 30 June 
2008 the first reported under NZ IFRS.

PlANNINg FOR THE TRANSITION 
TO NZ IFRS
In order to publish the first financial statements for the 
period ended 30 June 2008, the Authority and the 
Fund will be required to:

Restate all of the 30 June 2006 closing balances in 
the Statement of Financial Position, prepared under 
NZ GAAP, to the new opening balances in the 
Balance Sheet as at 1 July 2006 under NZ IFRS,

Prepare NZ IFRS compliant financial information 
for the financial period commencing 1 July 2006 
(to be used as comparative figures in the financial 
statements for the period commencing 1 July 2007).

To manage the transition, the Authority has established 
a project to:

Identify and understand the impact of adopting  
NZ IFRS,

Review and update, where necessary, the 
accounting policies for the Authority and the Fund 
to ensure that they are fully compliant with NZ IFRS,

Prepare the restated opening Balance Sheet as at  
1 July 2006,

Ensure that the Authority has systems and 
processes in place to produce the information 
required by NZ IFRS.

■

■

■

■

■

■

KEY dIFFERENcES IN 
AccOUNTINg POlIcIES
During the 2005/06 financial year a review of NZ IFRS 
to identify and understand the potential impact on the 
Authority’s and the Fund’s financial statements and 
accounting policies was undertaken.

Both the Authority and the Fund are Public Benefit 
Entities (PBE) for the purposes of NZ IFRS and are 
entitled to take advantage of the PBE exemptions 
within the individual NZ IFRS.

PROPERTY, PlANT ANd 
EqUIPMENT/INTANgIblE ASSETS
Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets 
without physical substance that are held for their own 
use. Examples of intangible assets include computer 
software. On adopting NZ IFRS, approximately 
$176,000 for the Authority and $48,000 for the Fund 
of software currently classified as property, plant and 
equipment will be reclassified to intangible assets.

Under NZ IFRS assets acquired for no cost or nominal 
cost must be recorded at fair value and the difference 
between cost and fair value recorded as revenue. 
Land transferred from the Ministry of Transport on 
establishment of the Authority is currently recorded at nil 
value. This nil value transfer would require restatement 
to fair value under NZ IFRS. On first adoption of NZ 
IFRS items of property, plant and equipment can be 
measured at fair value and that fair value be deemed 
cost going forward. It is the Authority’s intention to 
establish the fair value of this land for NZ IFRS purposes 
and deem that fair value as cost.

HEdgE AccOUNTINg  
– cASH FlOw HEdgES
The Authority and the Fund use forward exchange 
contracts to hedge their exposure to foreign currency 
purchases over $20,000 NZD. Forward exchange 
contracts are defined as cash flow hedges and are 
classified as derivates under NZ IFRS. To obtain hedge 
accounting for derivates under NZ IFRS there are 
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specific requirements for designation, documentation 
and effectiveness testing. If the requirements of a 
cash flow hedge cannot be achieved, all changes 
in fair value must be recognised directly through the 
income statement. If the requirements can be met then 
changes in the fair value can be recorded through a 
reserve into equity. The impact of this requirement on 
the financial statements is not currently known.

FUTURE FOcUS
The Authority will continue to work towards 
implementation of NZ IFRS during the 2006/07 
financial period by:

Finalisation of the accounting policies under NZ IFRS

Preparation of the opening balance sheet as at  
1 July 2006

Development of systems and processes to produce 
the information required by NZ IFRS.

cAUTIONARY NOTE
The work to date has been undertaken with the 
current standards under NZ IFRS. These standards 
are subject to change before 30 June 2007 and 
accordingly the actual impact of NZ IFRS may vary 
from the information presented above.

■

■

■
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Output Class 1:  
Maritime Regulation and Monitoring
This output class involves the provision of the safety standards, risk analysis, monitoring, enforcement, 
communication and operational capabilities necessary to ensure the safe, secure and effective operation of  
the maritime safety system and to promote a safe maritime environment.

Under this output class, Maritime New Zealand provides the following outputs:

Government relations and governance

Communication and awareness

Monitoring and compliance

Risk analysis and targeting

Safety and security services

OUTPUT 1.1: gOVERNMENT RElATIONS ANd gOVERNANcE
Description: Meeting all reporting obligations and contributing to a Whole of Government approach. Fulfilling 
Maritime New Zealand’s governance obligations at an Authority level and contributing to the objectives and 
priorities of the NZTS.

perforManCe Measure
 aCtual

year to date
 standard/

tarGet 2005/06 varianCe Quantity

Quantity

Replies to ministerial correspondence 14 30-40 (16)

Reports to the Minister 53 60-70 (7)

Replies to Parliamentary questions 63 35-45 18

Quality

Percentage of draft replies to Ministerial correspondence and 
answers to parliamentary questions accepted by the Ministry  
of Transport on first submission

100% 100% -

tiMeliness

Percentage of draft replies to Ministerial correspondence 
forwarded to the Ministry of Transport within 10 business  
days from the time of receipt by Maritime New Zealand

98% 100% (2%)

Reports to the Minister and answers to parliamentary questions 
within timeframes specified by the Minister’s Office/the Ministry 
of Transport

100% 100% -

■

■

■

■

■
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OUTPUT 1.2: cOMMUNIcATIONS ANd AwARENESS
Description: Building strong stakeholder partnerships and provide technical advice and expertise and promoting 
awareness and acceptance of safety, security and environmental standards and best practice.

perforManCe Measure
 aCtual

year to date
standard/

tarGet 2005/06 varianCe Quantity

Quantity

Number of regional seminars held 4 4 -

Number of strategic partnership groups11 8 8 -

Quality

Percentage of stakeholders either satisfied or extremely satisfied 
with Maritime New Zealand (as gauged by customer survey)

66% 75% (9%)

Percentage of people who recall boating safety advertisements 
(as gauged by survey)

89% 75% 14%

tiMeliness

Percentage of publications completed within scheduled due date 100% 100% -

OUTPUT 1.3: MONITORINg ANd cOMPlIANcE
Description: Monitoring adherence to safety, security and marine pollution prevention standards. The investigation 
of accidents, incidents and mishaps and the enforcement of Standards and Rules. Maintaining the NZ Register of 
Ships and issuing Licences and Permits.

perforManCe Measure
 aCtual

year to date
 standard/

tarGet 2005/06 varianCe Quantity

Quantity

Number of ship registration transactions 760 800 – 1000 (40)

Number of port and flag State and SSM vessel inspections12 Port State: 514

Flag State/SSM: 
678

Port State:  
450-65013

Flag State/SSM: 
140014

-

(722)15

Number of seafarer certificates and licences issued 1152 1000 – 1200 48

Number of applications processed for dumping wastes and 
other matters within the EEZ

6 5 – 7 -

Quality

Percentage of eligible vessels, as determined by the Tokyo 
Memorandum of Understanding targeting factor, which are 
inspected

99% 90% 9%

Percentage of SSM companies which are compliant with 
requirements of the Code of Practice of Safe Ship Management

100% 100% -

Number of accidents and incidents investigated 408 33516 227

Percentage of prosecutions, undertaken to enforce the 
Maritime Transport Act 1994 and the Health and Safety in 
Employment Act 1992, which are successful

100% 90% 10%

11 The target is to establish one partnership group for each of Maritime New Zealand’s strategic target areas.

12 Port State vessels are foreign registered vessels visiting New Zealand on a commercial basis. Flag State vessels are New Zealand registered or recognised vessels that are subject to the Safety of Life at 
Sea Convention. Safe Ship Management (SSM) vessels are domestic commercial vessels operating under a Safe Ship Management System.

13 This figure is an estimate based on previous years. It is recognised that the measure is demand driven and that the number of foreign registered ships visiting New Zealand is not under the control of 
Maritime New Zealand.

14 Target calculated at a rate of 100 inspections per Maritime Safety Inspector annually.

15 From September 2006 Maritime New Zealand made the policy decision to assume responsibility for initial audits of vessels entering SSM, and to carry out risk assessments of 25% of vessels in SSM 
per year. An internal measure for inspections 100% of flag state (New Zealand International Class) vessels has been met.

16 This is an estimate based on previous years figures. This is comprised of an estimated 250 commercial accidents and 85 recreational accidents.
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perforManCe Measure
 aCtual

year to date
 standard/

tarGet 2005/06 varianCe Quantity

tiMeliness

Percentage of SSM company head and district offices audited 
according to the agreed audit schedule

100% 100% -

Number of non-compliances with legislation, produced from 
audits of SSM companies, closed out within timelines agreed 
between Maritime New Zealand and the SSM Company

50%17 95% (45%)

Percentage of applications for dumping wastes and 
other matters within the EEZ, processed or follow-up 
correspondence replied to, within ten working days of receipt 
by Maritime New Zealand

100% 100% -

Percentage of accident investigations completed within  
six months

50%18 70% (20%)

OUTPUT 1.4: RISK ANAlYSIS ANd TARgETINg
Description: Recording, integrating and analysing strategic data to identify areas of risk. Evaluating safety, security 
and environmental risks and developing targeted initiatives. Developing and maintaining effective safety, security 
and marine pollution prevention standards.

perforManCe Measure
 aCtual

year to date
 standard/

tarGet 2005/06 varianCe Quantity

Quantity

Number of annual statistical summaries published 319 4 (1)

Number of TAIC safety report recommendations actioned 4 outstanding20

11 completed21

Detail provided 
to Transport 

Accident 
Investigation 
Commission

Report of 
actions taken on 

recommendations 
received, together 

with the reasons 
for any non 

implementation 
of such 

recommendations

-

Quality

Implementation of initiatives from the Maritime New Zealand 
strategic action plans

In progress 84%

Outstanding 2%

Ongoing 2%

Completed 12%

Implementation in 
accordance with 

agreed timelines22

-

tiMeliness

Maritime and marine protection rules developed in accordance 
with the programme agreed with the Minister

All monthly reports 
provided to MoT 

by 10th of month 
as required under 

the Rules contract

Report of 
progress made on 

a monthly basis

-

17 Two of the SSM companies audited had non-conformities. One was not closed off within the agreed timeline, despite reminders from MNZ.

18 While the overall rate for completing accident investigations is improving, the continued variance is attributable to a number of accidents that have involved investigations of a highly complex and 
technical nature.

19 Maritime New Zealand has reviewed the nature and direction of its publications and as a result is no longer publishing an annual Recreational Accidents Book.

20 New Safety recommendations which have been raised by the Commission for Maritime New Zealand for the year 2005/2006 that remain outstanding at the years end.

21 Safety recommendations raised by the Commission for Maritime New Zealand that were closed / acceptable for the year 2005/2006.

22 The timelines in many initiatives are necessarily fluid due to external factors not in the control of Maritime New Zealand. Information is presented in this form to give an overall picture of the status of all 
strategic initiatives underway at Maritime New Zealand.
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OUTPUT 1.5: SAFETY ANd SEcURITY SERVIcES
Description: Providing distress and safety communication systems and services, aids to navigation and maritime 
security services.

perforManCe Measure
 aCtual

year to date
 standard/

tarGet 2005/06 varianCe Quantity

Quantity

Number of navigation aids’ inspections/audits 13923 142 (3)

Number of port plans tested for compliance with the  
Maritime Security Act 2004

16 17 1

Number of ships risk profiled 1991 700 – 800 1191

Quality

Availability levels of monitored lights, unmonitored lights,  
and day beacons buoys

99.9% 99.8% (0.1%)

Availability levels of distress and safety radio service BCL: 17.5 hours Level of downtime 
BCL sites: less 
than 207 hours 

p.a. in total24

189.5

Maritime 
New Zealand: 

123.3 hours

Level of downtime 
Maritime 

New Zealand 
sites: less than 

400 hours p.a. in 
total

276.7

Percentage of non-compliances with maritime security 
legislation, arising from inspections, closed out within  
agreed timeframes

100% 100% -

tiMelines

Level two measures tested on appropriate ISPS ports Exercises 
completed by 31 
December 2005

Exercises 
completed by 31 
December 2005

-

23 During inspections in the area, Flat Rock was not inspected because of a 2 metre swell. Durville Rock was also not inspected because of adverse weather. To return for one missed inspection in 
each area is not economical. Passage Rocks Buoy was not inspected as it was due for complete replacement. Because of delays this replacement work has just been completed, and the new buoy 
inspection will be included in the 2006/07 year.

24 The differences in target levels between BCL and Maritime New Zealand sites is due to location issues – Maritime New Zealand sites are those which are in remote locations and are difficult to access in 
the event of problems.
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Output Class 2:  
Marine Environment Protection
This output class ensures New Zealand’s preparedness for, and ability to respond to, marine oil pollution spills, 
along with the maintenance of an appropriate response capability for other emergencies likely to impact on the 
marine environment.

OUTPUT 2.1: MARINE ENVIRONMENT PROTEcTION
Description: Ensuring NZ’s operational preparedness for, and ability to respond to, marine oil spills. Developing and 
maintaining an appropriate response capability for other emergencies likely to impact on the marine environment.

perforManCe Measure
 aCtual

year to date
standard/

tarGet 2005/06 varianCe Quantity

Quantity

Number of reported oil and non-oil spills requiring a response, 
by volume

Achieved25 Reducing trends 
from year to year 

and three year 
rolling average

-

Quality

Reporting quarterly on the outcome of all Tier 3 and significant 
Tier 2 oil spill responses and exercises

Achieved Report, utilising 
Response 

Management 
indices as 

appropriate

-

Oil Spill Preparedness Index26 Achieved ‘Green’  
response level

-

tiMeliness

Provision of a 24 hour contact & referential capability Achieved All calls answered 
within 15 minutes

-

Team assembly as required for a Tier 3 oil spill Not required Within 2 hours 
– for ‘Green’ 

manning levels

-

25 The 88 operational oil spills reported in 2005/06 demonstrates a favourable pattern of continuing decline compared to the 97 reported in 2004/05 and 110 reported in 2003/04. Refer the ‘Reported Oil 
Spills by Volume’ graph on page 26 for overall pattern over time.

26 This index measures the degree to which current arrangements for responding to Tier 2 and Tier 3 marine oil spills are at the optimum level specified in the national Strategy. Behind each aspect of the 
index sits a checklist which is used to objectively assess the level of preparedness. The checklist is available on request from Maritime New Zealand. Preparedness is reported based on a ‘Green’ (able 
to respond), ‘Amber’ (able to respond in most circumstances), and ‘Red’ (not able to respond) assessment.
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Output Class 3:  
Search and Rescue Operations
This output class covers the delivery of Class III search and rescue operations. The objectives of this output class 
are to provide an immediate response to all notified distress alerts within the New Zealand Search and Rescue 
region; to co-ordinate searches to locate persons in distress; and to render appropriate assistance to ensure the 
safety of all persons concerned.

OUTPUT 3.1: SEARcH ANd REScUE
Description: Under this output, Maritime New Zealand provides the following services:

Provision in the New Zealand Search and Rescue Region of 24/7 Search and Rescue coordination services  
for Class III search and rescue operations for persons in distress or in need of assistance, such services to 
meet or exceed New Zealand’s obligations under any applicable international agreements

Coordination of all persons, organisations, and government departments as necessary to provide the required 
Class III Search and Rescue operations

Operation of the Local User Terminal

Communication with and education of persons, organisations and government departments to minimise the 
need for and to improve and facilitate Class III Search and Rescue operations

Provision of sufficient adequately skilled staff to ensure the Search and Rescue coordination services are 
available 24/7

Establishment and adoption of procedures to ensure the effective coordination of Class III Search and Rescue 
operations

Log and record all activities associated with the coordination of Class III Search and Rescue operations

Completion of a report for each suspended Class III Search and Rescue operation and such other reports as 
are requested by stakeholders

Provision of a person or persons to attend and represent New Zealand’s interests at international forums on 
search and rescue

Provision of appropriate training for personnel involved in providing Class III Search and Rescue coordination 
operations

Maintenance of the national 406MHz distress beacon register

Arranging the provision of medical advice, initial medical assistance, or medical evacuation if required, for 
persons in distress within the New Zealand Search and Rescue Region.

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

ANNUAL REPORT 2005/06

5�



perforManCe Measure
 aCtual

year to date
standard/

tarGet 2005/06 varianCe Quantity

Quantity

Number of SAR incidents responded to 1365 600 – 90027 465

Number of table-top SAR exercises conducted 2 2 -

Quality

Percentage of SAR operations carried out in accordance with 
operating procedures

100% 100% -

Minimum of one fully trained Search and Rescue Officer in the 
operations room

100% 100% of 24 
hours/7 days

-

Minimum of two fully trained Search and Rescue Officers  
on watch

100% 100% of 24 
hours/7 days

-

Percentage of Class III SAR incidents where appropriate  
Police Communications Centre was informed

100% 100% -

Percentage of Class II SAR incidents, brought to RCCNZ’s 
attention, where appropriate Police Communications Centre 
was informed

100% 100% -

Percentage of appropriate28 incidents debriefed 100% 100% -

tiMeliness

Percentage availability levels of Local User Terminal 99% 95%29 4%

Percentage availability of RCCNZ electronic systems 99% 99% -

Percentage of incidents where Incident Log created within one 
minute of receipt of initial search and rescue information

100% 100% -

Percentage of SAR incidents classified (Uncertainty Phase, 
Alert Phase, or Distress Phase) within five minutes of initial  
SAR information

100% 100% -

Percentage of internal SAR related documentation completed 
within seven days of completion/suspension of an incident

100% 100% -

Percentage 406 beacon registrations received entered into the 
Beacon Register within seven working days

100% 100% -

27 This figure is an estimate of activity as opposed to a required target to be achieved.

28 ‘Appropriate’ is as defined in RCCNZ standard operating procedures.

29 This is an accepted international standard.
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Appendix One:  
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund  
Financial Statements
cHAIRMAN’S REPORT

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund

The Fund is comprised of levies collected from all contributing commercial ships and offshore oil installations and 
pipelines. The levy is risk-based to reflect the level of risk attributable to different categories of ships and types of oil.

A five-year forecast and an annual budget is endorsed by the Oil Pollution Advisory Committee (OPAC) for 
consideration by the Authority, which, in turn, recommends a capital and operating budget for approval by the 
Minister of Transport.

The accumulated monies in the Fund and the on-going annual contributions from levies, are applied, in 
accordance with the Maritime Transport Act 1994, to the development and maintenance of an effective marine  
oil pollution response system for New Zealand.

Susie Staley
Chairman
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Statement of Responsibility
For the year ended 30 June 2006

The preparation of financial statements of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund and the judgements used herein 
are the responsibility of the Authority members and management.

The establishment and maintenance of an internal control system designed to provide reasonable assurance as 
to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2006 are the responsibility of 
the Authority members and management.

In the opinion of the Authority members and management, financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2006 
fairly reflect the financial position and operations of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund.

Susie Staley Russell Kilvington
Chairman Director of Maritime New Zealand
27 October 2006 27 October 2006
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AUdIT REPORT

To the readers of the  
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s  
Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 june 2006

The Auditor-General is the auditor of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund (the Fund). The Auditor-General has 
appointed me, H C Lim, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial 
statements of the Fund, on his behalf, for the year ended 30 June 2006.

Unqualified Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements of Fund on pages 66 to 75:

comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and

fairly reflect:

the Fund’s financial position as at 30 June 2006; and

the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date.

The audit was completed on 27 October 2006, and is the date at which our opinion is expressed.

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of Maritime New Zealand 
(the Authority) and the Auditor, and explain our independence.

Basis of Opinion

We carried out the audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the 
New Zealand Auditing Standards.

We planned and performed the audit to obtain all the information and explanations we considered necessary in 
order to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements did not have material misstatements, whether 
caused by fraud or error.

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would affect a reader’s 
overall understanding of the financial statements. If we had found material misstatements that were not corrected, 
we would have referred to them in our opinion.

The audit involved performing procedures to test the information presented in the financial statements. We 
assessed the results of those procedures in forming our opinion.

Audit procedures generally include:

determining whether significant financial and management controls are working and can be relied on to 
produce complete and accurate data;

verifying samples of transactions and account balances;

performing analyses to identify anomalies in the reported data;

reviewing significant estimates and judgements made by the Authority;

confirming year-end balances;

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■
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determining whether accounting policies are appropriate and consistently applied; and

determining whether all financial statement disclosures are adequate.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the financial statements.

We evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements. We obtained all 
the information and explanations we required to support our opinion above.

Responsibilities of the Authority and the Auditor

Section 330(7) of the Maritime Transport Act 2004 requires the financial statements of the Fund to form part of the 
financial statements of the Authority.

The Authority is responsible for preparing financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practice in New Zealand. Those financial statements must fairly reflect the financial position of the Fund as at 
30 June 2006. They must also fairly reflect the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended on that 
date. The Authority’s responsibilities arise from the Public Finance Act 1989 and the Maritime Transport Act 1994.

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and reporting that opinion 
to you. This responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and the Public Finance Act 1989.

Independence

When carrying out the audit we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General, which 
incorporate the independence requirements of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of New Zealand.

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the Fund.

H C lim
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Wellington, New Zealand

■

■

Matters relatinG to the eleCtroniC presentation of the audited finanCial stateMents

This audit report relates to the financial statements of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund for the year ended 30 June 2006 
included on Maritime New Zealand’s web site. The Board of Maritime New Zealand is responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of Maritime New Zealand’s web site. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of Maritime New Zealand’s 
web site. We accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were 
initially presented on the web site.

The audit report refers only to the financial statements named above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information 
which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial statements. If readers of this report are concerned with the inherent 
risks arising from electronic data communication they should refer to the published hard copy of the audited financial 
statements and related audit report dated 27 October 2006 to confirm the information included in the audited financial 
statements presented on this web site.

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation  
in other jurisdictions.
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Statement of Accounting Policies
For the year ended 30 June 2006

REPORTINg ENTITY
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund (the Fund) has 
been established by Maritime New Zealand pursuant 
to section 330 of the Maritime Transport Act 1994.

The purpose of the Fund is to meet the ongoing costs 
of maintaining New Zealand’s marine oil spill response 
capability, including contingency plans, equipment and 
training, and response costs where they are unable 
to be recovered from the spiller. Levies imposed on 
shipping and oil sites are paid into the Fund to finance 
these costs.

While the financial statements of the Fund form part 
of the financial reports of the Authority, they are 
presented separately in order to clearly identify the 
income and expenditure associated with Maritime 
Safety Authority’s oil pollution response activities.

The financial statements of the Fund have been 
prepared in accordance with Section 330 (7) of the 
Maritime Transport Act 1994.

MEASUREMENT bASE
The measurement base applied is historical cost.  
The accrual basis of accounting has been used  
unless otherwise stated. These financial statements 
are present in New Zealand dollars.

AccOUNTINg POlIcIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been applied consistently 
to all periods presented in these financial statements.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

The financial statements are prepared on a GST 
exclusive basis, with the exception of accounts 
receivable and accounts payable which are stated  
with GST included. Where GST is irrecoverable as an 
input tax, then it is recognised as part of the related 
asset or expense.

Taxation

The Fund is a public authority in terms of the  
Income Tax Act 2004 and consequently is exempt 
from income tax.

Budget Figures

The budget figures are those approved by the Minister 
of Transport at the beginning of the financial year.

The budget figures have been prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting practice and are 
consistent with the accounting policies adopted by the 
Fund for the preparation of the financial statements.

Revenue

The Fund earns revenue from interest on investments 
and levies to third parties for the provision of services. 
Such revenue is recognised when earned and is 
reported in the financial period to which it relates.

Expenses

Expenses are recognised in the financial period to 
which they relate.

Operating Leases

Operating lease payments, where the lessors 
effectively retain substantially all the risks and benefits 
of ownership of the leased item, are charged as an 
expense in the period in which they relate.

Financial Instruments

The Oil Pollution Fund of New Zealand is party to 
various financial instruments as part of its normal 
operations. These financial instruments include 
bank accounts, short-term deposits, debtors and 
creditors. All financial instruments are recognised in 
the Statement of Financial Position and all revenues 
and expenses in relation to financial instruments are 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance.
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Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are stated at their estimated 
realisable value after providing for doubtful and 
uncollectable debts.

Spare Parts

Spare parts are valued at weighted average cost.

Investments

Short-term investments are deposited with registered 
New Zealand banks. Short-term investments are 
recognised at lower of cost or net realisable value.

Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are recorded at cost at the time of 
acquisition or creation.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis, at 
rates calculated to allocate the cost over the estimated 
useful life of the asset.

The useful lives and associated depreciation rates used 
in the preparation of these statements are as follows:

Plant and equipment 5-30 years 3.3-20% straight line

Motor vehicles 5 years 20.0% straight line

furniture, fittings and  
office equipment

5 years 20.0% straight line

Computer equipment  
& software

3 years 33.3% straight line

Leasehold improvements 3.3 years 30.3% straight line

Vessels 5-10 years 10-20% straight line

The cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised and 
depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease.

Items under construction are not depreciated. The total 
cost of a capital project is transferred to the appropriate 
asset class on its completion and then depreciated.

Commitments

Commitments disclosed include those operating and 
capital commitments arising from non-cancellable 
contractual or statutory obligations.

Contingent Liabilities

Contingent liabilities are disclosed at the point at which 
the contingency is evident.

STATEMENT OF cASH FlOwS
Cash means cash balances on hand, held in bank 
accounts and demand deposits in which the Authority 
invests as part of its day-to-day cash management.

Operating activities include cash received from all 
income sources and records the cash payments made 
for the supply of goods and services.

Investing activities are those activities relating to the 
acquisition and disposal of non-current assets.

Financing activities comprise the change in equity  
and debt capital structure of the Authority.

cHANgES IN AccOUNTINg 
POlIcIES
There have been no changes in accounting policies 
since the date of the last audited financial statements. 
The policies have been applied on bases consistent 
with prior years.
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Statement of Financial Performance
For the year ended 30 June 2006

notes

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

 Oil Pollution levies 2,550 2,457 2,532

 Other revenue 1 68 27 30

 Interest income 513 450 513

Total operating revenue 3,131 2,934 3,075

 Operating expenditure 2 3,580 3,927 3,435

 Depreciation 3 303 310 261

 Oil spill response 23 70 5

Total operating expenditure 3,906 4,307 3,701

Net operating surplus/(deficit) (775) (1,373) (626)

Statement of Movements in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2006

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Net operating surplus/(deficit) (775) (1,373) (626)

Total recognised revenues & expenses for the year (775) (1,373) (626)

Total equity as at 1 July 12,346 11,686 12,972

total equity as at 30 June 11,571 10,313 12,346

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements

APPENdIcES6�
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2006

notes

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

eQuity

 Crown Contribution 11,571 10,313 12,346

total eQuitY 11,571 10,313 12,346

Represented by:

assets

Current assets

 Cash 388 255 290

 Short term investments 6,565 4,664 7,259

 Receivables 4 152 478 645

 Inventories 949 978 978

Total current assets 8,054 6,375 9,172

Non-current assets

 Fixed assets 5 4,473 4,562 4,234

Total non-current assets 4,473 4,562 4,234

Total assets 12,527 10,937 13,406

liabilities

Current liabilities

 Accounts payable 6 956 624 1,060

Total current liabilities 956 624 1,060

Total liabilities 956 624 1,060

Net aSSetS 11,571 10,313 12,346

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2006

notes

aCtual
2006
$000

budGet
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Cash flows froM operatinG aCtivities

Cash was received from:

 Fees and charges 2,999 2,465 2,503

 Other 68 27

 Interest received 561 448 507

 Net Goods and Services Tax 1 6 -

3,629 2,946 3,010

Cash was applied to:

 Payments to suppliers 3,668 3,937 3,456

 Oil spill response 23 70 5

 Net Goods and Services Tax - - 61

3,691 4,007 3,522

Net cash flow from operating activities 9 (62) (1,061) (512)

Cash flows froM investinG aCtivities

Cash was received from:

 Sale of fixed assets 7 - 16

 Investments 694 1,508 958

701 1,508 974

Cash was applied to:

 Purchase of fixed assets 541 447 399

541 447 399

Net cash flow from investing activities 160 1,061 575

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 98 - 63

Add opening cash 290 255 227

Closing cash balance 388 255 290

Cheque account 52 5 42

Call deposits 336 250 248

Closing cash balance 388 255 290

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of Commitments
As at 30 June 2006

aCtual
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Capital commitments are as follows:

 Less than one year - 125

- 125

Operating commitments are as follows:

 Less than one year 325 339

 One year less than two years 31 277

 Two years less than five years - -

356 616

Total operating commitments 356 616

Total commitments 356 741

The Fund is committed to operating contracts as part of its normal operations.

Statement of Contingent Liabilities
As at 30 June 2006

There were no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2006 (Nil at 30 June 2005).

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2006

NOTE 1: OTHER REVENUE
aCtual

2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Oil spill recoveries 27 -

Bad debts recovered 1 1

Gain on sale of assets - 5

Equipment hire 27 7

Other income 13 17

68 30

NOTE 2: OPERATINg ExPENdITURE
aCtual

2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Costs recovered by Maritime New Zealand 2,334 2,211

Regional Council costs 859 854

Professional services 326 320

Maintenance 43 15

Administration 16 22

Bad debts written-off - 6

(Decrease)/increase in provision for doubtful debts (5) 2

Fixed assets written-off - -

Fees paid to auditors

 external audit 7 5

 other services - -

3,580 3,435

NOTE 3: dEPREcIATION
aCtual

2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Plant and equipment 224 226

Vessels 20 4

Motor vehicles 19 11

Furniture, fittings and office equipment 3 2

Computer equipment and software 20 17

Leasehold improvements 17 1

303 261
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NOTE 4: REcEIVAblES ANd PREPAYMENTS

aCtual
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Trade debtors 5 464

Less provision for doubtful debts - (5)

Net trade receivables 5 459

Other accounts receivable 43 81

GST refundable 104 105

total receivables and prepayments 152 645

NOTE 5: FIxEd ASSETS

Cost
$000

aCCuM.
depn.

$000

net booK
value

$000

as at 30 June 2006

Plant and equipment 9,027 5,118 3,909

Vessels 453 47 406

Motor vehicles 279 198 81

Furniture, fittings and office equipment 92 87 5

Computer equipment and software 72 48 24

Leasehold improvements 40 19 21

work in progress:

 Computer equipment and software 27 - 27

Total work in progress 27 - 27

total 9,990 5,517 4,473

as at 30 June 2005

Plant and equipment 8,684 4,929 3,755

Vessels 183 27 156

Motor vehicles 237 178 59

Furniture, fittings and office equipment 92 85 7

Computer equipment and software 72 29 43

Leasehold improvements 40 2 38

work in progress:

 Plant and equipment 14 - 14

 Vessels 162 - 162

Total work in progress 176 - 176

total 9,484 5,250 4,234
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NOTE 6: PAYAblES ANd AccRUAlS

aCtual
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Trade creditors 401 643

Accrued expenses 555 417

total 956 1,060

NOTE 7: RElATEd PARTY TRANSAcTIONS
The Fund undertakes transactions with Government departments and other Crown entities. These transactions 
are carried out on an arms’ length basis and it is considered that these do not fall within the intended scope of 
related party disclosures.

Maritime New Zealand is responsible for administering the Fund. The costs relating to this administration 
have been paid to the Authority on a cost recovery basis. These costs amounted to $2,334,000 ($2,211,000 
2004/2005). The amount payable at year-end was $431,000 ($361,000 2004/2005).

NOTE 8: FINANcIAl INSTRUMENTS
Credit risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Fund to concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of 
cash, deposits and accounts receivable. The Fund places its cash in fixed interest securities with major banks. 
Funds are invested in accordance with the investment powers under the Public Finance Act.

Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to the Fund, causing the Fund to incur a loss. 
The Fund incurs credit risk from Accounts Receivable in the normal course of its business.

Currency risk

The Fund had no currency risk, given that any financial instruments it dealt with during the year were in 
New Zealand dollars.

Interest rate risk

The Fund does not consider that there is any significant interest exposure on the Fund’s investments.

Fair value

The fair value of all financial instruments is equivalent to the carrying amount disclosed in the financial statements.
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NOTE 9: REcONcIlIATION OF NET SURPlUS FROM OPERATIONS  
wITH NET cASH FlOwS FROM OPERATINg AcTIVITIES

aCtual
2006
$000

aCtual
2005
$000

Reported net operating surplus (775) (626)

Add/(deduct) non cash items:

 Depreciation 303 261

Total non-cash items 303 261

Add/(deduct) movements in working capital:

 (Increase)/decrease in inventories 28 -

 (Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable 493 (58)

 Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable, including provisions (104) (115)

Working capital movements – net 417 (173)

Add/(deduct) investing activities:

 Increase in fixed asset accruals (7) 31

 Loss/(gain) on sale of fixed assets - (5)

Total investing activity items (7) 26

Net cash flows from operating activities (62) (512)
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Appendix Two:  
Delegations and Contracting Out

APPENdIcES

The following lists the significant 
functions and powers of the Authority 
and the Director that are delegated 
or contracted out, or for which 
appointments have been made, or 
for which there is memorandum of 
understanding.
The Authority has delegated the following operational 
activities to contractors by way of contracts for services:

A contract for services has been entered into with 
BCL (Broadcast Communications Limited) to provide 
High Frequency and Very High Frequency distress 
and safety radio communications for shipping; 
effective from 1 July 2004 until 30 June 2010.

A contract for the provision of maintenance services 
for the Maritime New Zealand Maritime Distress and 
Safety Radio Network has been entered into with 
Downer Engineering Limited; effective from 1 July 
2003 until 30 June 2008.

The issue of statutory certificates in respect of 
convention ships registered under the New Zealand 
flag has been delegated to the following 
classification societies:

American Bureau of Shipping

Bureau Veritas

Det Norske Veritas

Germanischer Lloyd

Lloyds Register.

The inspection of New Zealand pleasure craft 
departing for overseas has been delegated to 
Yachting New Zealand.

Approved Safe Ship Management companies have 
been delegated the authority to issue Safe Ship 
Management Certificates.

The power to issue certificates of compliance has 
been delegated to Authorised Persons in respect of:

Commercial jet boat operations (in respect of 
operations in the Queenstown Lakes District);

Commercial white water rafting operations  
(in respect of operations in the Queenstown  
Lakes District);

Under six metre fishing boat operations; and

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

Under six metre commercial boats used for 
recreational diving.

The power to suspend certificates of compliance 
issued under Maritime Rule Part 80 has been 
delegated to the Chief Executive Officer of 
Queenstown Lakes District Council in respect of 
certificates issued for operations in the Queenstown 
Lakes District.

Harbourmasters have been delegated the power:

To set, conduct, and administer examinations 
and tests for the issue of pilot licences and 
master’s pilotage exemptions; and

To direct that a pilot be taken on board a ship in 
New Zealand waters in specified circumstances.

The enforcement of section 198 of the Maritime 
Transport Act 1994 (regarding Coastal Shipping) 
has been delegated to the Secretary for Transport.

The power to conduct examinations of seafarers 
has been delegated to recognised examiners.

The power to issue maritime documents under 
Part 35 (Audits and Examinations) of the Maritime 
Rules has been delegated to the Department of 
Conservation and NZ Underwater; and

The power to approve the erection or alteration of 
a navigational aid in the Marlborough District, under 
section 200(7) of the Maritime Transport Act 1994 
has been delegated to Alex van Wijngaarden as 
Harbourmaster, Marlborough District Council.

The Authority has also delegated the following 
activities associated with the protection of the marine 
environment:

A contract for services has been entered into 
with Massey University for the preparedness and 
response capability to respond to oiled marine 
wildlife arising from certain Tier 2 and all Tier 3 
marine oil spills; effective from 1 July 2004 to  
30 June 2007.

The power to investigate marine oil spills within 
the coastal marine area has been delegated to 
specified persons in regional councils.

The power to approve and monitor oil transfer 
site marine oil spill contingency plans has been 
delegated to the CEOs of regional councils.

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■
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The following contracts have been entered into with 
persons and organisations outside the Authority in 
relation to the provision of services relating to Output 
Class: Class III Maritime Search and Rescue:

EMS Pacific Pty Limited Maintenance Services 
Agreement for the maintenance of the COSPAS- 
SARSAT Local User Terminal (facilities installed in 
the RCCNZ) effective from 1 December 2002 to 30 
November 2007.

EMS Pacific Pty Limited Software Subscription/
Support Services Agreement for the software 
support of the COSPAS-SARSAT Local User 
Terminal effective from 1 December 2002 to 30 
November 2007.

Australian Maritime Safety Authority Agreement in 
respect of the operation of the Local User Terminal 
made on 22 December 2002.

Life Flight Trust agreement to supply medical advice 
effective from 13 March 2003.

Administration of the Maritime New Zealand Staff 
Superannuation Scheme has been contracted to 
Tower Group Services Limited.

■

■

■

■
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Appendix Three:  
Statutory Functions and Roles

APPENdIcES

MARITIME NEw ZEAlANd 
STATUTORY FUNcTIONS
The objective of Maritime New Zealand as prescribed 
in the Maritime Transport Act 1994 is to

‘undertake its safety, security, marine protection, 
and other functions in a way that contributes to the 
aim of achieving an integrated, safe, responsive, 
and sustainable transport system.’ (s430)

Section 431 of the Maritime Transport Act sets out 
Maritime New Zealand’s functions as:

one

To promote maritime safety and security, 
and protection of the marine environment in 
New Zealand

To promote maritime safety and security, and 
protection of the marine environment beyond 
New Zealand in accordance with New Zealand’s 
international obligations

To ensure the provision of appropriate distress 
and safety radio communication systems and 
navigational aids for shipping

To ensure New Zealand’s preparedness for, and 
ability to respond to, marine oil pollution spills

To license ships, their operation and their crews

To co-operate with, or to provide advice and 
assistance to, any government agency or local 
government agency when requested to do so 
by the Minister, but only if the Minister and the 
Authority are satisfied that the performance of 
the Authority’s functions and duties will not be 
compromised

To provide information and advice with respect 
to maritime transport and marine protection, and 
to foster appropriate education programmes 
with respect to maritime transport and marine 
protection, that promote its objective

To investigate and review maritime transport 
accidents and incidents and maritime security 
breaches and incidents

To maintain the New Zealand Register of Ships

To maintain and preserve records and documents 
relating to the Authority’s functions

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

To advise the Minister on technical maritime  
safety policy

To perform such other functions as are conferred  
on it by this Act or any other Act.

two

The Authority shall carry out such other maritime 
functions, and such maritime duties, as the Minister may 
from time to time prescribe by notice in the Gazette.

three

The Authority must, if directed by the Minister under 
section 14C of the Civil Aviation Act 1990, do any or  
all of the following:

Maintain and operate the search and rescue 
coordination centre established under section 
14B(1)(a) of the Civil Aviation Act 1990

Coordinate, or participate in the coordination of,  
any search and rescue operation specified in 
section 14B(1)(a) of the Civil Aviation Act 1990

Perform, or participate in the coordination of, any 
search and rescue operation specified in section 
14B(1)(a) of the Civil Aviation Act 1990

Exercise any or all of the powers of the Minister 
under section 14B(1)(b) and (c) and section 14B(2) 
of the Civil Aviation Act 1990.

These functions are delivered within the context of the 
New Zealand Transport Strategy and through a culture 
of collaboration amongst government transport sector 
agencies. This means that wherever possible, a sector 
wide approach to policy and other issues is taken.

HEAlTH ANd SAFETY IN 
EMPlOYMENT ObjEcTIVES
The Prime Minister, in May 2003, acting pursuant to 
section 28B of the Health and Safety in Employment 
Act 1992 and having regard to the specialist knowledge 
of relevant agencies, designated Maritime New Zealand 
(at that time the Maritime Safety Authority) to administer 
this Act for the maritime sector, specifically for ships. 
The scope of the designation is for work on board 
ships and for ships as places of work.

■

■

■

■

■

■
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Maritime New Zealand has entered into a Memorandum 
of Understanding with the Department of Labour, which 
provides that the Parties work co-operatively to:

Ensure safe and healthy people and workplaces

Coordinate the application of health and safety 
legislation to avoid overlaps and gaps in coverage 
and to promote efficiency

Provide a seamless, responsive and consistent 
service

Maintain an open relationship to promote and 
produce optimal results for workplace health and 
safety in New Zealand.

MARITIME SEcURITY ObjEcTIVES
The Maritime Security Act 2004 has as its purposes:

To enable New Zealand to meet its maritime 
security obligations under the Safety of Life at  
Sea Convention

To enhance ship and port security

To prevent international terrorism.

Maritime New Zealand, as the Designated Authority 
under the Act, has as its principal objectives to  
ensure that:

The chief executive undertakes the activities that 
the Designated Authority considers necessary for 
the effective implementation of the International 
Ship and Port Facility Security Code

Its decisions and the actions of the chief executive 
are consistent with the Safety or Life at Sea 
Convention and the Code.

SEARcH ANd REScUE ObjEcTIVES
Pursuant to section 14C of the Civil Aviation Act 1990 
Maritime New Zealand has assumed responsibility for 
providing Class III search and rescue on a 24 hours per 
day, seven days per week basis. These services are:

Provision in the New Zealand Search and Rescue 
Region of 24/7 Search and Rescue coordination 
services for Class III search and rescue operations 
for persons in distress or in need of assistance, such 
services to meet or exceed New Zealand’s obligations 
under any applicable international agreements

Coordination of all persons, organisations, and 
government departments as necessary to provide 
the required Class III Search and Rescue operations

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

Operation of the Local User Terminal

Communication with and education of persons, 
organisations and government departments to 
minimise the need for and to improve and facilitate 
Class III Search and Rescue operations

Provision of sufficient adequately skilled staff 
to ensure the Search and Rescue coordination 
services are available 24/7

Establishment and adoption of procedures to 
ensure the effective coordination of Class III Search 
and Rescue operations

Log and record all activities associated with the 
coordination of Class III Search and Rescue 
operations

Completion of a report for each suspended Class 
III Search and Rescue operation and such other 
reports as are requested by stakeholders

Provision of a person or persons to attend and 
represent New Zealand’s interests at international 
forums on search and rescue

Provision of appropriate training for personnel 
involved in providing Class III Search and Rescue 
coordination operations

Maintenance of the national 406MHz distress 
beacon register

Arranging the provision of medical advice, initial 
medical assistance, or medical evacuation 
if required, for persons in distress within the 
New Zealand Search and Rescue Region.

THE ROlE OF THE AUTHORITY
The Maritime Transport Act 1994 provides for a  
five-member Board, appointed in accordance with  
the Crown Entities Act 2004.

The role of the Board is to:

Set strategic direction and develop policy

Appoint the Chief Executive for Maritime New Zealand

Monitor the performance of the Crown Entity and 
the Chief Executive

Ensure compliance with the law, accountability 
documents and relevant Crown expectations

Maintain appropriate relationships with the Minister, 
Parliament and the public.

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■
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THE dIREcTOR’S ROlES
Under the Maritime Transport Act, the Director of 
Maritime New Zealand is a statutory officer with certain 
independent functions (from members of the Authority 
and the Minister) and specific powers concerning:

The granting of maritime or marine protection 
documents

The suspension of maritime or marine protection 
documents

The revocation of maritime or marine protection 
documents

The granting of exemptions.

The Director has the specific functions:

To exercise control over entry into the maritime 
transport system through the granting of maritime 
documents and marine protection documents

To take such action as may be appropriate to 
enforce the provisions of the Maritime Transport Act 
or any other Act, and of regulations and rules made 
under the Maritime Transport Act or any other Act, 
including the carrying out or requiring of inspections 
and audits

To monitor adherence, within the maritime transport 
system, to any regulatory requirements relating to:

Safety and security, including (but not limited to) 
personal security

Access and mobility

Public health

Environmental sustainability

Any other matter.

To ensure regular reviews of the maritime 
transport system to promote the improvement and 
development of its safety and security

To promote compliance with safety and maritime 
pollution standards in the maritime transport system.

The Director has a key role in planning responses to 
marine oil spills and in the investigation of accidents, 
incidents or mishaps resulting in serious harm to 
people, property or the environment.

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

■

Many of the powers vested in the Director under 
the Act may be delegated to Maritime New Zealand 
officials with appropriate experience and qualifications 
while the Director’s inspection and survey powers 
may be delegated to external organisations. Their 
performance is formally monitored by Maritime 
New Zealand. The Director of Maritime New Zealand, 
however, retains ultimate responsibility for any 
delegated activities. The Director cannot delegate  
to any person the power to revoke maritime and 
marine protection documents on the grounds of  
non-compliance with applicable standards. Nor can 
the Director delegate outside Maritime New Zealand 
the power to:

Suspend or revoke documents for unpaid fees

Suspend seafarers from employment at sea

Detain ships, maritime products or marine 
protection products

Issue of infringement notices.

■

■

■

■
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Appendix Four:  
International Matters
Maritime New Zealand is responsible for 
administering and implementing a wide 
range of international maritime and marine 
environment protection conventions to 
which New Zealand is a party.

INTERNATIONAl MARITIME 
ORgANISATION (IMO)
Maritime New Zealand attends and participates in 
a number of meetings of the International Maritime 
Organisation. The meetings attended during the year 
and the principal issues considered included:

maritime safety Committee (msC), 81st session 
– The MSC adopted new regulations for the Long 
Range Identification and Tracking (LRIT) together with 
associated performance standards and functional 
requirements. The new regulation on LRIT is included 
in SOLAS chapter V on Safety of Navigation, through 
which LRIT will be introduced as a mandatory 
requirement for the following ships on international 
voyages: passenger ships, including high-speed craft; 
cargo ships, including high-speed craft, of 300 gross 
tonnage and upwards; and mobile offshore drilling units.

sub-Committee on Flag state implementation 
(Fsi), 13th session – The FSI continued its work on 
identifying measures to encourage member states to 
adequately discharge the responsibilities they assume 
by becoming contracting parties to international 
maritime safety conventions. New Zealand and 
Russia presented a paper on the arrangements of flag 
States on ship registration, survey and certification, 
in particular the status of Recognised Organisations 
authorised by flag States.

OPRC-hNs Technical Group – Participation in this 
group enables New Zealand to contribute to and 
learn from other countries in the development of 
preparedness, training and response to incidents 
involving oil and other hazardous and noxious 
substances. The group this year refined draft guidance 
material on contingency planning, hazard evaluation 
and response to marine chemical spills, and a manual 
on the assessment and reinstatement of environmental 
damage following marine oil spills. 

marine Environment Protection Committee (mEPC), 
54th session – The Marine Environment Protection 
Committee (MEPC) considered the first draft of 
a proposed new international instrument on ship 
recycling. Other issues on the agenda included ballast 
water management and air pollution from ships. The 
Committee also adopted a number of amendments to 
the MARPOL Convention.

Council of the imO, 95th and 96th sessions – The 
Council encouraged Members States to nominate as 
many qualified auditors as possible for participation in 
the Voluntary IMO Member State Audit Scheme, under 
which the first audits are anticipated to be carried out 
in late 2006. Member States were also encouraged 
to continue to volunteer for audits as and when they 
were ready, so as to assist in the regular planning and 
updating of the audit timetable.

Legal Committee, 91st session – The Committee 
adopted guidelines on fair treatment of seafarers in 
the event of a maritime accident, as well as agreeing 
an interpretation of article 1.5(a)(ii) of the 1996 
International Convention on Liability and Compensation 
for Damage in connection with the Carriage of 
Hazardous and Noxious Substances by Sea (the HNS 
Convention. Work continued on the of the draft text of 
the new convention on the removal of wrecks.

international Oil Pollution Compensation Fund – The 
Assembly considered various proposals to revise the 
international oil pollution liability and fund regime.

OTHER bIlATERAl ANd 
MUlTIlATERAl ARRANgEMENTS
In addition to its work in the IMO, Maritime 
New Zealand continued to participate actively in a 
number of other international fora:

Tokyo memorandum on Port state Control in the 
Asia-Pacific region – Maritime New Zealand attended 
the 15th meeting of the Port State Control Committee. 
Maritime New Zealand made a presentation on port 
State control activities in New Zealand, and advised the 
Committee that a three month focused campaign on 
cargo gear will be carried out in the first half of 2006/07.
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Australian National marine safety Committee 
– Maritime New Zealand is represented on the 
Committee in a non-voting capacity.

Asia Pacific heads of maritime safety Agencies Forum 
– Maritime New Zealand attended the 9th forum and 
delivered a paper on maritime security, as well as 
chairing a session on environmental protection.

Joint iCAO/imO working Group on harmonization 
of Aeronautical and maritime search and Rescue 
– Maritime New Zealand attended the 13th session of 
this Working Group.
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